
Harvesting the growth of our INVESTMENTS 13

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended: JULY 2, 2006 

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from _____ to _____

Commission File Number: 000-22071

OVERLAND STORAGE, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

CALIFORNIA 95-3535285
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) (IRS Employer Identification No.)

4820 Overland Avenue, San Diego, California 92123
(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

(858) 571-5555
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, no par value The NASDAQ Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. YES NO X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. YES NO X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES X NO 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition
of  “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer  X Non-accelerated filer 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YES NO X

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of December 30, 2005, the last business day of
the registrant’s second fiscal quarter, was approximately $71,875,048 (based on the closing price reported on such date by The NASDAQ
Global Market of the registrant’s Common Stock). Shares of Common Stock held by officers and directors and holders of 5% or more of
the outstanding Common Stock have been excluded from the calculation of this amount because such persons may be deemed to be
affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.

As of September 8, 2006, the number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s Common Stock was 12,981,283.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with registrant’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on November 14, 2006
(the “Proxy Statement”) are incorporated herein by reference into Part III of this Report.



14 OVERLAND STORAGE   2006 ANNUAL REPORT

FORM 10-K | PART I
OVERLAND STORAGE, INC.

>>

PAR T  I

ITEM 1. Business

This report contains certain statements of a forward-looking nature relating to future events or the future performance of our

company. Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “currently scheduled” and

similar expressions or variations of such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements, but are not the only means 

of identifying forward-looking statements. Prospective investors are cautioned that such statements are only predictions and that

actual events or results may differ materially. In evaluating such statements, prospective investors should specifically consider

various factors identified in this report, including the matters set forth below under the caption “Risk Factors,” which could cause

actual results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements.

GENERAL  Overland was originally founded and incorporated as Overland Data, Inc. in California in 1980. In June 2002, 

we changed our name to Overland Storage, Inc.

Our principal executive offices are located at 4820 Overland Avenue, San Diego, California 92123, and our telephone number 

is 858-571-5555. For over 25 years we have delivered data protection solutions designed for backup and recovery to ensure

business continuity. Historically, we have focused on delivering a portfolio of tape automation solutions including loader and

library systems designed for small business and midrange computing environments. Beginning with the June 2003 acquisition 

of Okapi Software, Inc. (Okapi or Okapi Software), a privately-owned company based in San Diego, California, we expanded our

product offerings to include a family of intelligent disk-based backup and recovery appliances to complement our tape solutions.

In August 2005, we acquired Zetta Systems, Inc. (Zetta or Zetta Systems), a privately-owned company based in the Seattle,

Washington area, and have incorporated the Zetta technology into a new line of protected primary disk-based storage appliances.

One of the main market differentiators of many of our products has been that we design them around a modular, scalable

architecture. This enables customers to purchase storage as they need it, rather than having to purchase larger monolithic

devices with excess capacity. Customers can purchase an initial module to meet their near-term needs, and later increase speed 

and capacity by adding modules that can be interconnected to function as a single system. This provides a lower price entry

point, investment protection, and an increased level of fault tolerance, as each module is self-sufficient and will continue to

function even if another were to fail.

We also differentiate ourselves with our “go-to-market” approach. We are the only supplier in our market space that does not

have a direct sales force. The majority of our sales have historically been generated through private label arrangements with

original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). The remainder of our sales are made through commercial distributors and value-

added resellers (VARs).

End-users of our products include small and midsize businesses, as well as divisions and operating units of large multi-national

corporations, governmental organizations, universities and other non-profit institutions. Our products are used in a broad range

of industry sectors including financial services, healthcare, retail, manufacturing, telecommunications, broadcasting, research

and development and many others. Our products are sold world-wide in the Americas, EMEA (Europe, Middle East, Africa) and

Asia Pacific. Approximately 56.5% of our revenue is generated internationally, primarily in Europe.

Our Internet address is www.overlandstorage.com. We make available free of charge on our Internet website our annual report

on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed pursuant to

Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material

with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. The contents of our website are not a part of this report.
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OUR DIRECTION AND STRATEGY  Our strategy is to become a market leader and innovative supplier of a complete portfolio 

of tiered data storage solutions by providing intelligent storage appliances with embedded protection software designed to work

together to ensure that information is “automatically safe, readily available and always there.” We intend to deliver products 

to address all three tiers of data storage: protected primary disk, secondary disk-based backup and tertiary automated tape

libraries for archival. Our focus will continue to be on mid-range solutions that can be easily sold worldwide through OEMs and

our indirect network of distributors and resellers. We intend to leverage our leadership position in mid-range tape automation

into a similar position in primary and secondary intelligent disk-based appliances.

Historically, magnetic tape has been used for all forms of data backup and recovery, because magnetic tape was, and still is, the only

reliable, “removable,” high capacity storage media that can be taken off-site to ensure that data is safeguarded in case of disaster. 

For a number of years now, Overland has held a market-leading position in mid-range tape automation, and sales of tape automation

appliances have represented more than 90% of our revenue for each of the last three fiscal years. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005

we commenced development of ARCvaultTM, a new tape automation platform that will spawn several new price competitive products.

The first of these products was launched in July 2006 with the others to be delivered to market during the remainder of fiscal 2007.

Although we expect that tape solutions will continue to be the anchor of the data protection strategy at most companies, tape backup

is time consuming and often unreliable and inefficient. The process of recovering data from tape is also time consuming and

inefficient. Ultimately, we expect that tape will likely be relegated to an archival role for less-frequently accessed data.

Over the last few years, the advent of low-cost serial ATA disk and iSCSI networking technology, together with greatly

increased regulatory compliance requirements and the continued growth of digital data have driven businesses to use

secondary storage disk-based backup appliances. One of the greatest benefits of disk-based backup is the speed of restoration.

Studies show that approximately 90% of recovered data is two weeks old or younger, or last accessed within that period. As 

a result, many IT managers are electing to use disk-based appliances as an intermediate staging area, with the backup data

eventually moving to tape. We have enjoyed initial success in this relatively new market space with our REOTM disk-based

backup solutions, and we believe there is significant promise for future growth.

In addition to daily or periodic backup, companies are also looking for ways to protect their data continuously. Software protection

is being applied to primary storage devices through a combination of features including file and block-based replication, near

instantaneous snapshotting and virtualization. We are now using the technology developed by Zetta Systems, which we acquired

in August 2005, as the basis for ULTAMUSTM, a line of protected primary storage appliances recently introduced to the market.

This product line will be marketed and sold through our existing branded sales channel. It will be targeted to the mid-market 

with a goal of delivering enterprise-class availability, built-in data protection and exceptional performance at an affordable price.

The primary storage market is currently many times larger than the secondary and tertiary storage markets, and we anticipate

that the primary storage market could be the source of a significant portion of our long term revenue growth.

Success in the primary and secondary disk-based appliance markets will require us to introduce a steady stream of new

products that are feature-rich and competitively priced.

PRODUCTS  Our current products and other offerings include:

>>  Tape Automation – Automated tape libraries are devices capable of managing multiple data cartridges and incorporate two

or more tape drives to provide unattended backup of large quantities of data. Our libraries incorporate tape drives supplied

by other manufacturers based on the leading mid-range tape technologies, including LTO (Linear Tape Open) and DLTtape.

We currently offer the following tape automation products:

> Scalable NEO SERIES® – We offer 3 versions of our NEOTM product family:

• NEO 2000 can accommodate up to 2 tape drives and 30 cartridges and can scale up to 8 modules high with 16 tape

drives and 240 cartridges.

• NEO 4000 can accommodate up to four tape drives and 60 cartridges and can scale up to 4 modules high to comprise

a system of 16 tape drives and 240 cartridges. Customers can configure NEO systems with a combination of NEO

2000 and 4000 modules.

• NEO 8000 consists of a base model with 100-cartridge capacity which can be scaled up to 500 cartridges through a field-

enabled software key. Additionally, two NEO 8000s can be interconnected to provide up to 1,000 cartridge capacity.
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> ARCvault – Overland’s newest family of tape automation solutions is designed to deliver better value to a price sensitive

market. We ultimately intend to deliver four products to the marketplace. The following two products were launched 

in July 2006:

• ARCvault 12 autoloader consists of one tape drive and can accommodate up to 12 cartridges.

• ARCvault 24 tape library can accommodate up to two tape drives and 24 cartridges.

>> Disk-based Backup Products – In August 2003, we began shipping our REO SERIES® of disk-based products based on the

technology we received in the Okapi Software acquisition. The REO product family currently consists of three products:

• REO 1000 with 4 disk drives and a native capacity of up to 2.0 terabytes;

• REO 4000 with 8 disk drives and a native capacity of up to 4.0 terabytes; and

• REO 9000 with 12 or 24 disk drives and a native capacity of up to 12.0 terabytes. The REO 9000 expansion array

can be added to expand the capacity of an existing REO 9000 in increments of 4.0 terabytes up to a maximum

system capacity of 44.0 terabytes.

The strength of these intelligent appliances lies in the embedded Protection OSTM software which enables them to be configured

as virtual tape libraries, dynamic virtual tape drives and/or disk LUN volumes. The optional REO Multi-Site PACTM software 

is also available to protect remote data by facilitating the transfer of data in virtual tape format from a remote REO to a central

REO for management and tape storage.

>> Protected Primary Storage – In July 2006, we launched ULTAMUSTM PRO 500 with Protection OS based on the technology

we obtained in the Zetta Systems acquisition. ULTAMUS PRO 500 can be expanded to a raw capacity of 32.0 terabytes and 

is designed to protect data through snapshotting, block-level remote replication for disaster recovery and virtualization for

simplified management.

>> Related Products and Services – We have a variety of products and services supporting our tape libraries, PowerLoaders

and loaders. We currently offer the following additional products and services:

• Desktop and internal upgrade tape drives.

• Spares, post warranty return-to-factory and on-site service.

• Media, including tape cartridges for SDLT and LTO formats.

>> VR2® (Variable Rate Randomizer) – VR2 is our patented data encoding technology. This technology, which is embedded in 

an Applications Specific Integrated Circuit (ASIC) chip, is capable of significantly increasing the native capacity and data

transfer rate performance of linear tape technologies without requiring any changes in tape path design, recording heads

and/or media. This performance is accomplished by achieving encoding efficiency of greater than 99%. We have licensed VR2

to Tandberg Data ASA for use in its Scalable Linear Recording (SLR) tape drives, to Imation Corporation as the owner of the

Travan technology format, to Quantum Corporation for use in its Travan tape drive offerings, and to Sun Storage Tek for use

in its T9940 and T9840 drives and future tape drive products.

CUSTOMERS Our operating structure is optimized for our mid-range strategy in that our products do not require us to have a

“direct” (to end-users) sales or service force. We sell all our products on an indirect basis, primarily through three channels or

types of customers: (i) OEMs; (ii) distributors and (iii) VARs. Regardless of the channel through which they are sold, all of our

products are designed and manufactured to meet OEM-level requirements and reliability standards.

>> OEM Channel – Our significant OEM supply agreements have been with Hewlett Packard Company (HP) and International

Business Machine Corporation (IBM), both of which incorporate our NEO products into their system offerings. Fujitsu

Limited and NEC Corporation also purchase NEO products and sell them under their respective labels. However, we are

required to sell to them through their appointed reseller, and consequently we classify them as VAR customers rather than

OEM customers.

In August 2005, we announced that HP had selected an alternate supplier for its next-generation mid-range tape

automation products. HP began purchasing the first product of this new line from the alternate supplier during the first

quarter of calendar year 2006. Although HP will continue to purchase the tape automation products currently supplied by

Overland for some time, the alternate supplier’s product will eventually replace the majority of those purchases. We cannot

predict how quickly this transition will occur, but believe the effect on our revenue in fiscal 2007 will be significant.
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In November 2005, we announced that Overland had been selected by a new-tier one OEM customer to supply it with

Overland’s next generation tape library. We expect this business to contribute significantly to our revenue over the three-year

life of the contract. Shipments to this OEM customer are currently scheduled to commence in the first half of fiscal 2007.

Although we continually strive to win new OEM business, the OEM sales cycle is often lengthy and uncertain. It typically

consists of a general technology evaluation, qualification of product specifications, verification of product performance

against these specifications, integration testing of the product within the customers’ systems, product announcement and

volume shipment.

As is customary in the industry, our OEM contracts have an initial three-year term, provide for periodic price reviews 

and the customers are not required to purchase minimum quantities. Our existing contracts with HP (initially signed in

August 2003 and extended for up to three years in July 2006) and IBM (initially signed in November 2002 and extended

through November 2006) also provide that title to inventory shipped from our warehouse into various inventory hub

locations remains with us until the products are pulled by HP or IBM to fulfill their customer orders. HP, including the

former Compaq that HP acquired in May 2002, has been our largest customer, accounting for approximately 49.7%, 54.3%

and 58.8% of sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of sales 

in any year during the three-year period ended June 30, 2006.

>> Distribution Channel – Our primary distribution customers include Bell Microproducts, Inc., Ingram Micro, Inc. and 

Tech Data Corporation in the United States and approximately eight technical distributors in Europe. Typically, these

distributors sell our products to smaller VARs and catalogers who in turn sell to end-users. The distribution agreements

include provisions for rights of return, stock rotation and price protection, common terms in the commercial distribution

area. Because of these terms, revenue from shipments to these customers is not recognized until the related products are in

turn sold by the distributor. We support these distributors through a dedicated field sales force and provide further support

through field sales personnel who work with the smaller VARs and catalogers to generate end-user sales and create the pull

through its distribution customers.

>> VAR Channel – Our VAR channel includes systems integrators and larger VARs. Some of our VARs qualify to purchase

products direct from Overland while others purchase through the distribution channel. Some of these customers specialize

in the insurance, banking, financial, geophysical or medical industries, and offer a variety of value-added services relating 

to our products. Our products frequently are packaged by these customers as part of a complete data processing system or

combined with other storage devices, such as redundant array of independent disks (RAID) systems, to deliver a complete

storage subsystem. These customers also recommend our products as replacement solutions when backup systems are

upgraded, and bundle our products with storage management software specific to the end-user’s system. We support this

channel through our field sales representatives.

Our products are sold both domestically and internationally and we have sales personnel located in various cities

throughout the world. We divide our sales into three geographical regions: (1) the Americas, consisting of North and 

South America; (2) Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA); and (3) Asia Pacific (APAC). Primary support for customers 

in the Americas is provided from our San Diego headquarters office. EMEA is supported by our wholly-owned subsidiaries

located in Wokingham, England; Paris, France; and Munich, Germany. The subsidiary in England provides sales, technical

support and repair services, while the subsidiaries in France and Germany provide sales and technical support. Our APAC

customers are supported by our sales offices in Singapore and Korea. We assign to our international distributors the right to

sell our products in a country or group of countries. In addition, many domestic customers ship a portion of our products to

their overseas customers. Our foreign sales for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 were approximately $118.2 million, $138.5 million

and $116.5 million, respectively, representing 56.5%, 58.8% and 48.9%, respectively, of our total net revenue. Foreign sales

in the United Kingdom and Singapore, primarily in our OEM channel, were approximately $47.9 million and $22.9 million,

respectively, in fiscal 2006, $65.8 million and $21.8 million, respectively, in fiscal 2005 and $67.2 million and $9.4 million,

respectively, in fiscal 2004.
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Our marketing efforts include support for both our OEM and branded customers. Our branded channel partners are

provided with a full range of marketing materials, including product specification literature, software connectivity

information and application notes. In addition, Overland offers lead generation opportunities and market development

funds to our key channel partners. Our sales management and engineering personnel provide support to the channel

partners and, in certain instances, visit potential customer sites to explain and demonstrate the technical advantages 

of our products. We maintain press relations both domestically and in Europe, and participate in national and regional 

trade shows in varying degrees both domestically and internationally.

Sales to customers outside of the United States represent a significant portion of our sales. International sales are subject 

to various risks and uncertainties. See “Our international operations are important to our business and involve unique

risks” in Risk Factors below. Sales generated by our European channel generally show seasonal slowing during our first

fiscal quarter (July through September), reflecting the summer holiday period in Europe.

CUSTOMER SERVICE AND SUPPORT  Our technical support personnel are trained on our products, compatibility between

multiple hardware platforms, operating systems and backup, data interchange and storage management software and are

equipped to respond to customer inquiries. Additionally, our application engineers are available to solve more complex customer

problems. Customers that need service and support can contact us through our toll-free telephone lines, facsimile and Internet

e-mail. Application notes and user manuals can be obtained directly from our website.

We generally provide a three-year advance replacement return-to-factory warranty on our NEO SERIES, REO SERIES,

PowerLoader® and LoaderXpress® products. We also provide on-site service, where available, for the first warranty year of the

NEO SERIES products for which we contract with third-party service providers. For our ARCvault product, we offer a one-year

advance replacement return-to-factory warranty. For most products, we offer a program called XchangeNOW® as part of our

return-to-factory warranty which enables customers to receive an advance replacement unit shipped within two business 

days after placing a service request. The customer ships the defective unit back to us using the shipping materials from the

replacement unit. Separately priced extended on-site warranties are offered for sale to customers. We contract with outside

vendors to provide service relating to all on-site warranties.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT  We incurred research and development (R&D) costs of $18.8 million, $10.7 million and $7.3

million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, representing 9.0%, 4.5% and 3.0%, respectively of net revenue. We currently

employ 89 people in our R&D department, including electrical, mechanical, software, hardware and firmware engineers who

support our products. In fiscal 2006, our development efforts were focused on three projects: (1) our new ARCvault tape automation

platform; (2) our new ULTAMUS protected primary storage appliance based on the technology we obtained in the August 2005

acquisition of Zetta Systems; and (3) the addition of scalability to our current line of REO disk based backup and recovery

appliances. In fiscal 2007, we expect to complete the development of the ARCvault tape automation products, including distinct

versions of the products for our new OEM customer. We also plan to develop next generation platforms and follow-on products

of REO and ULTAMUS. We expect R&D expenditures to decline throughout fiscal 2007 as these developments are completed.

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLIERS  Historically, we have maintained a fully integrated factory in San Diego, California.

However, in September 2004, in order to reduce our cost structure, increase our flexibility and improve our focus on product

development, we announced plans to outsource all of our manufacturing to Sanmina-SCI Corporation (Sanmina). The transition

of the manufacturing of all of our products to Sanmina’s Rapid City, South Dakota plant was completed in August 2005.

Since then, we have purchased completed products from Sanmina. Sanmina has generally been responsible for procuring all

raw materials and producing the products to meet our specifications. However, we continue to purchase tape drives and certain

printed circuit boards (PCBs), which are incorporated into our tape automation products, and consign the drives and PCBs to

Sanmina. Tape drives are the most expensive material component of these products and consignment enables us to avoid an

additional markup from Sanmina. For a small portion of our tape drive requirements, we qualify only a single source, which can

magnify the risk of shortages and decrease our ability to negotiate with our suppliers on the basis of price. From time to time in

the past, we have not obtained as many drives as we have needed from various vendors due to drive shortages or quality issues.
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During fiscal 2006, we failed to achieve the customer service levels, product quality and cost reductions we expected from the

outsourcing. Additionally, we incurred a significant amount of redundant costs to support the outsourcing which eroded our

gross margins during the year. As a consequence, we have decided to bring manufacturing back to our San Diego facility. 

As of July 2006, we are manufacturing our new ARCvault product in San Diego, and our plan calls for the transition of all

products back to San Diego by December 31, 2006.

In general, Overland-branded products are not manufactured until an order is received. The typical lead-time for manufacturing

products is three to five days and backlog is generally not a significant factor to our business. Our two largest OEM customers,

HP and IBM, have both required that we maintain inventory on hand, known as buffer stock, at any given time sufficient to

supply their forecasted requirements for the next three weeks. They provide weekly forecast information that allows us to

manage both raw material and finished goods inventories. The buffer stock is shipped into various distribution hubs around 

the world and we retain ownership of that inventory until it is pulled by HP or IBM to fulfill customer orders, at which time

revenue is recognized.

COMPETITION  The worldwide storage market is intensely competitive and barriers to entry are relatively low. However, no

significant new entry has occurred in several years. Our competitors vary in size from small start-ups to large multi-national

corporations who have substantially greater financial, R&D and marketing resources. In the tape automation market, our

primary competition includes Quantum Corporation and Advanced Digital Information Corporation (acquired by Quantum

Corporation, in August 2006) with limited competition from Sun Storage Tek in larger scale libraries. Key competitive factors

include product features, reliability, durability, scalability and price.

Our disk-based products currently compete with products made by IBM, HP, EMC Corporation, Quantum Corporation,

Advanced Digital Information Corporation (acquired by Quantum Corporation in August 2006), Sun Storage Tek, Network

Appliance, Inc. and numerous small startups. We believe additional competitors are likely to enter the market. Key competitive

factors in these markets include performance, functionality, scalability, availability, interoperability, connectivity, time to

market enhancements and total value of ownership.

The markets for all of our products are characterized by significant price competition, and we anticipate that our products 

will face increasing price pressure.

PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

General – In the tape automation space, we believe that patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection are less

significant than factors such as the knowledge, ability and experience of our personnel, new product introductions and product

enhancements. In the secondary disk-based appliance and primary protected storage spaces, we believe intellectual property

protection will be an important competitive advantage, and we intend to secure a significant number of patents, copyrights 

and trademarks as quickly as possible to obtain a leadership position in these areas.

We presently hold 16 United States patents and have seven United States patents pending. In general, these patents have a 

20-year term from the first effective filing date for each patent. We also hold a number of foreign patents and patent applications

for certain of our products and technologies. These rights, however, may not prevent competitors from developing substantially

equivalent or superior products to ours. In addition, our present and future patents may be challenged, invalidated or

circumvented, reducing or eliminating our proprietary protection.

VR2 Technology – We have entered into various intellectual property licensing agreements relating to our VR2 technology.

These agreements require the payment of royalty fees based on sales by licensees of products containing VR2. In certain

instances, we sell to the licensee ASIC chips embodying VR2 priced to include the cost of the chip plus an embedded royalty fee.

EMPLOYEES  As of July 2, 2006, we had 360 employees, including 143 in sales and marketing, 89 in research and development, 79

in manufacturing and operations and 49 in finance, information systems, human resources and other management. There are

no collective bargaining contracts covering any of the employees and we believe that our relationship with our employees is good.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our company involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information included in this report, you

should carefully consider each of the following risk factors in evaluating our business and prospects as well as an investment in

our company. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not

presently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following

risks actually occur, our business and financial results could be harmed. In that case the trading price of our common stock could

decline. You should also refer to the other information included or incorporated by reference in this report.

Our business has been highly dependent on sales to large OEM customers and we are currently experiencing a customer

transition. Hewlett-Packard Company (HP), including the former Compaq which HP acquired in May 2002, has been our largest

customer, accounting for approximately 49.7% of net revenue in fiscal 2006, 54.3% of net revenue in fiscal 2005 and 58.8% of net

revenue in fiscal 2004. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of net revenue in fiscal 2006. Neither HP nor any other

customer is obligated to purchase a specific amount of our products or provide binding forecasts of purchases for any period.

In August 2005, we announced that HP had selected an alternate supplier for its next-generation mid-range tape automation

product. HP began purchasing the first product of this new line from the alternate supplier during the first quarter of calendar

year 2006. We expect HP to continue to purchase the tape automation products currently supplied by us for some time, but the

new product will eventually replace the majority of those purchases. We cannot predict how quickly this transition will occur,

but we believe the effect on our revenue during fiscal 2007 will be significant.

In addition, in November 2005, we announced that Overland had been selected by a new tier one OEM customer to supply it with

Overland’s next generation tape library. Although we expect shipments to this OEM customer to commence in the first half of fiscal

2007, the actual launch date is at the discretion of the customer and we cannot accurately predict the pace at which sales to this

customer will accelerate. Once these sales occur, we believe our business will become dependent on sales to this customer. This

customer will not be obligated to purchse a specific amount of our products or provide binding forecasts of purchases for any period.

We outsourced all of our manufacturing to Sanmina-SCI Corporation (Sanmina), but now are in the process of returning

manufacturing to our San Diego facility. If we are unable to complete the transition efficiently, or obtain our products

from Sanmina in a cost effective and timely manner that meets our customers’ expectations our business, financial

condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In August 2005, we completed the

outsourcing of all our manufacturing to Sanmina. During fiscal 2006, we failed to achieve the customer service levels, product

quality and cost reductions expected from the outsourcing. We also incurred a significant amount of redundant costs to support

the outsourcing which eroded our gross margins during the year. As a consequence, we have decided to bring manufacturing

back to our San Diego facility.

We face a number of risks during this transition. We may continue to experience product quality issues and shortages from

Sanmina. We may experience difficulties in re-establishing our production lines in San Diego that could also result in shortages

and product quality issues. Additionally, our agreement with Sanmina commits us to purchase products and materials based

upon the forecast of customer demand that we provide. As a consequence of the termination of this agreement, we will be

obligated to purchase finished goods and component parts based on such forecasts. If such forecasts prove to be higher than

current customer demand, we may experience higher than normal inventory carrying costs and some of the inventory may

become obsolete either of which could reduce our gross margins.

Our internal controls and procedures related to accounts payable cut-off need to be improved. Management is

responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over

financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In making this assessment,

management used the criteria set forth in the framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission (COSO) entitled Internal Control – Integrated Framework.

As of July 2, 2006, the Company did not maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of accounts payable 

and accrued expenses. Specifically, controls over cut-off and completeness of accounts payable and accrued expenses were 
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insufficient to ensure that invoices from certain vendors were properly evaluated at period end. We believe the deficiency

resulted primarily from the departures of our controller and accounting manager in April and May 2006, and the resulting

reassignment of tasks until the positions were filled in June and July 2006. This control deficiency resulted in audit adjustments

to the Company’s 2006 annual consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated financial statements for the

quarter ended July 2, 2006. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the Company’s accrued

liabilities, cost of revenue, and operating expenses that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has

determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

If we are unable to improve our internal controls related to accounts payable and accrued expenses, our ability to report our

financial results on a timely and accurate basis will be adversely affected, which could in turn have a material adverse effect 

on our ability to operate our business and remain listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, and could result in legal sanctions 

or private lawsuits filed against us or our management. Our stock price could decline as a result of any of these occurrences.

Even if the remedial measures discussed in “Controls and Procedures” below are effective at remediating the material weakness,

our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent future errors or fraud, since any control system, no matter how

well designed, can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control system will be achieved.

We plan to replace our ERP System in several years, and this may be disruptive to our business. Our ERP system is

approximately 10 years old, and we anticipate the need to replace it in several years. Transition to a new ERP system will 

be expensive and time consuming and, if problems occur in the transition, our business and results of operations may be

materially and adversely affected. In addition, we have modified this system significantly during its term of use and it is

possible that we would experience a significant system failure before we replace the system. Any such failure also may

materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our financial results may fluctuate substantially for many reasons, and past results should not be relied on as

indications of future performance. All of the markets that we serve are volatile and subject to market shifts, which we may

not be able to discern in advance. A slowdown in the demand for workstations, mid-range computer systems, networks and

servers could have a significant adverse effect on the demand for our products in any given period. We have experienced delays

in receipt of purchase orders and, on occasion, anticipated purchase orders have been rescheduled or have not materialized 

due to changes in customer requirements. Our customers may cancel or delay purchase orders for a variety of reasons,

including the rescheduling of new product introductions, changes in their inventory practices or forecasted demand, general

economic conditions affecting our customers’ markets, changes in our pricing or the pricing of our competitors, new product

announcements by us or others, quality or reliability problems related to our products or selection of competitive products as

alternate sources of supply. In particular, our ability to forecast sales to distributors, integrators and value-added resellers is

especially limited as these customers typically provide us with relatively short order lead times or are permitted to change

orders on short notice. Given that a large portion of our sales are generated by our European channel, our first fiscal quarter

(July through September) is commonly impacted by seasonally slow European orders, reflecting the summer holiday period 

in Europe. In addition, none of our customers is obligated to purchase a specific amount of our products.

Our financial results have fluctuated and will continue to fluctuate quarterly and annually based on many other factors such as:

• changes in customer mix (e.g., OEM vs. branded);

• changes in product mix;

• fluctuations in average selling prices;

• currency exchange fluctuations;

• increases in costs and expenses associated with the introduction of new products; and

• increases in the cost of or limitations on availability of materials.

Based on all of the foregoing, we believe that our revenue and operating results will continue to fluctuate, and period-to-period

comparisons are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied on as indications of future performance. Furthermore, in

some future quarters, our revenue and operating results could be below the expectations of public market analysts or investors,

which could result in a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock. In addition, portions of our expenses are fixed

and difficult to reduce if revenue does not meet our expectations. These fixed expenses magnify the adverse effect of any

revenue shortfall.
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The market price of our common stock may be volatile. The market price of our common stock has experienced significant

fluctuations since it commenced trading in February 1997. The market price of our common stock may continue to fluctuate

significantly in the future. Many factors could cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate, including:

• announcements concerning us, our competitors, our customers or our industry;

• changes in earnings estimates by analysts;

• purchasing decisions of HP and other significant customers;

• quarterly variations in operating results;

• the introduction of new technologies or products;

• changes in product pricing policies by us or our competitors; and

• changes in general economic conditions.

In addition, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume volatility in recent years. This volatility has had a

substantial effect on the market prices of securities of many smaller public companies for reasons frequently unrelated or

disproportionate to the operating performance of the specific companies. These market fluctuations may adversely affect the

market price of our common stock.

We face intense competition and price pressure, and many of our competitors have substantially greater resources

than we do. The worldwide storage market is intensely competitive as a number of manufacturers of tape automation solutions

and storage management software products compete for a limited number of customers. In addition, barriers to entry are

relatively low in these markets. We currently participate in the mid-range of the tape backup market. In this segment, some 

of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources, larger research and development staffs, and 

more experience and capabilities in manufacturing, marketing and distributing products. The markets for our products are

characterized by significant price competition, and we anticipate that our products will face increasing price pressure. This

pressure could result in significant price erosion, reduced profit margins and loss of market share, any of which could have 

a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operation and financial position.

Our business is highly dependent on the continued market acceptance and usage of tape-based systems for data

backup and recovery. We have historically derived a majority of our revenue from products based on the use of magnetic 

tape drives for backup and recovery of digital data. Our tape-based storage solutions now compete directly with other storage

technologies, such as hard disk drives, and may face competition in the future from other emerging technologies. The prices of

hard disk drives continue to decrease while capacity and performance have increased. We expect that our tape-based products

will face increased competition from these alternative technologies and come under increasing price pressure. If our strategy 

to compete in disk-based markets does not succeed, our business, liquidity, results of operations and financial condition will 

be materially and adversely affected.

Our disk-based products involve many significant risks. In August 2003, we began shipping our REO SERIES of secondary

disk-based backup and recovery products based on technology acquired from Okapi Software. In July 2006, we launched

ULTAMUS PRO 500, a disk-based protected primary storage solution, with embedded Protection OS software based on the

technology obtained in August 2005 from Zetta Systems.

The success of these disk-based products is uncertain and subject to significant risks, any of which could have a material

adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operation and financial position. We must commit significant resources 

to these new products before determining whether they will succeed. If these new products are not adopted by customers or 

do not achieve anticipated sales levels, any related intangible assets we have recorded may be impaired. Such impairment

would result in a charge against earnings in the period for which impairment is determined to exist, and reduce our assets 

and shareholders’ equity.

Before our acquisition of Okapi Software, we were not involved in the development, marketing and sale of disk-based products,

and before our acquisition of Zetta Systems, we were not involved in the protected primary storage market. The protected

primary storage area is still new to many of our personnel. We will need to continuously update and upgrade these products 

to stay competitive. Any delay in the commercial release of new or enhanced disk-based products could result in a significant

loss of potential revenue and may adversely impact the market price of our common stock.
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If our disk-based products do not achieve market acceptance or success, then the association of our brand name with these

products may adversely affect our reputation and our sales of other products, as well as dilute the value of our brand name.

Our success depends on our ability to anticipate rapid technological changes and develop new and enhanced

products. As an advanced technology company, we are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, generally characterized 

by rapid technological change and intense competition. In this environment, our future success will depend on our ability to

anticipate changes in technology, to develop new and enhanced products on a timely and cost-effective basis and to introduce,

manufacture and achieve market acceptance of these new and enhanced products.

Development schedules for high technology products are inherently subject to uncertainty. We may not meet our product

development schedules, including those for products based on our disk-based technologies, and development costs could exceed

budgeted amounts. Our business, liquidity, results of operations and financial position may be materially and adversely affected

if the products or product enhancements that we develop are delayed or not delivered due to developmental problems, quality

issues or component shortage problems, or if our products or product enhancements do not achieve market acceptance or are

unreliable. The introduction, whether by us or our competitors, of new products embodying new technologies, such as new

sequential or random access mass storage devices, and the emergence of new industry standards could render existing products

obsolete or not marketable, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations and

financial position.

Our international operations are important to our business and involve unique risks. Historically, sales to customers

outside of the United States have represented a significant portion of our sales and we expect them to continue representing 

a significant portion of sales. Sales to customers outside the United States are subject to various risks, including:

• the imposition of governmental controls mandating compliance with various foreign and U.S. export laws;

• currency exchange fluctuations and weak economic conditions in foreign markets;

• political and economic instability;

• trade restrictions;

• changes in tariffs and taxes;

• longer payment cycles (typically associated with international sales); and

• difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.

Furthermore, we may not be able to comply with changes in foreign standards in the future. Our inability to design products

that comply with foreign standards could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations and

financial position.

We are subject to exchange rate risk in connection with our international operations. We do not currently engage in

foreign currency hedging activities and therefore we are exposed to some level of currency risk. Our wholly-owned subsidiaries

in the United Kingdom, France and Germany incur costs which are denominated in local currencies. As exchange rates vary,

these results when translated into U.S. dollars may vary from expectations and adversely impact overall expected results. 

A weaker U.S. dollar would result in an increase to revenue and expenses upon consolidation, and a stronger U.S. dollar 

would result in a decrease to revenue and expenses upon consolidation.

Our ability to compete effectively depends in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights effectively.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret and other intellectual property laws to protect our

intellectual property rights. These rights may not however prevent competitors from developing products that are substantially

equivalent or superior to our products. To the extent we have or obtain patents, such patents may not afford meaningful

protection for our technology and products. Others may challenge our patents and, as a result, our patents could be narrowed,

invalidated or declared unenforceable. In addition, current or future patent applications may not result in the issuance of

patents in the United States or foreign countries. The laws of certain foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property

to the same extent as U.S. laws. Furthermore, competitors may independently develop similar products, duplicate our products

or, if patents are issued to us, design around these patents.
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In order to protect or enforce our patent rights, we may initiate interference proceedings, oppositions, or patent litigation

against third parties, such as infringement suits. These lawsuits could be expensive, take significant time and divert

management’s attention from other business concerns. The patent position of information technology firms generally is highly

uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions, and has recently been the subject of much litigation. No consistent

policy has emerged from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or the courts regarding the breadth of claims allowed or the

degree of protection afforded under information technology patents.

Our success will depend partly on our ability to operate without infringing on or misappropriating the proprietary rights

of others. Our business is such that we may at any time be sued for infringing the patent rights or misappropriating the

proprietary rights of others. For example, during fiscal 2004 we settled a case alleging patent infringement. Intellectual

property litigation is costly and, even if we prevail, the cost of such litigation could adversely affect our business, liquidity,

results of operations and financial condition. In addition, litigation is time consuming and diverts management attention and

resources away from our business. If we do not prevail in any litigation, we could be required to stop the infringing activity

and/or pay substantial damages. Under some circumstances in the United States, these damages could be triple the actual

damages the patent holder incurs. If we have supplied infringing products to third parties for marketing or licensed third

parties to manufacture, use or market infringing products, we may be obligated to indemnify these third parties for any

damages they may be required to pay to the patent holder and for any losses the third parties may sustain themselves as the

result of lost sales or damages paid to the patent holder.

If a third party holding rights under a patent successfully asserts an infringement claim with respect to any of our products, 

we may be prevented from manufacturing or marketing our infringing product in the country or countries covered by the

patent we infringe, unless we can obtain a license from the patent holder. Any required license may not be available to us on

acceptable terms, or at all. Some licenses may be non-exclusive, and therefore, our competitors may have access to the same

technology licensed to us. If we fail to obtain a required license or are unable to design around a patent, we may be unable to

market some of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, financial condition and

results of operations.

We have made a number of acquisitions in the past and may make acquisitions in the future. The failure to successfully

integrate acquisitions, could harm our business, financial condition and operating results. We have in the past and expect

in the future to make acquisitions of complementary businesses, products or technologies as we implement our business strategy.

Mergers and acquisitions involve numerous risks, including liabilities that we may assume from the acquired company, difficulties

in the assimilation of the operations and personnel of the acquired business, the diversion of management’s attention from

other business concerns, risks of entering markets in which we have no direct prior experience, and the potential loss of key

employees of the acquired business.

Future mergers and acquisitions by us also may result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities and the incurrence of debt,

amortization expenses and potential impairment charges related to intangible assets. Any of these factors could adversely affect

our business, liquidity, results of operations and financial position.

Our warranty reserves may not adequately cover our warranty obligations. We have established reserves for the estimated

liability associated with our product warranties. However, we could experience unforeseen circumstances where these or future

reserves may not adequately cover our warranty obligations. For example, the failure or inadequate performance of product

components that we purchase could increase our warranty obligations beyond these reserves.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate our executives and other key personnel. Our future

success depends in large part on our ability to attract, retain and motivate our executives and other key personnel, many of

whom have been instrumental in developing new technologies and setting strategic plans. Our growth also depends in large

part on our continuing ability to hire, motivate and retain highly qualified management, technical, sales and marketing team

members. Competition for qualified personnel is intense and there can be no assurance that we will retain existing personnel 

or attract additional qualified personnel in the future.
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The WEEE and RoHS directives in Europe may impact the cost of our products and/or our ability to sell products in

Europe. The European Union (EU) enacted Directive 2002/96/EC on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE),

which regulates the collection, recovery and recycling of waste from electrical and electronic products, and Directive 2002/95/EC

on the Restriction of the Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment (RoHS), which bans the 

use of certain hazardous materials including lead, mercury, cadmium, chromium and halogenated flame-retardants. Detailed

regulations on practices and procedures related to WEEE and RoHS continue to evolve in member states and we have yet to

assess fully the ramifications to our products. In order to comply with the WEEE directive, we intend to join a consortium and

contribute to the cost of collection, treatment, disposal and recycling of past and future covered products. We believe the costs 

to comply with WEEE will not be material. Compliance with the RoHS directive is a very significant effort that is currently

underway. It requires us to source new compliant components for virtually all of our hardware products either from existing 

or alternate suppliers so that no electrical products failing to meet RoHS standards are put on the EU market. At this time we

cannot provide assurance that compliance with RoHS will not have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results

of operations and financial condition.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
We have no unresolved comments from the SEC.

ITEM 2. Properties
We own no real property and we currently lease all facilities used in our business. Our headquarters are located in San Diego,

California in a two-building light industrial complex comprising approximately 160,000 square feet. The lease expires in February

2014 and can be renewed for one additional five-year period. This San Diego facility houses all of our research and development,

and administrative functions, as well as a major portion of sales, sales administration, marketing and customer support.

We lease a 17,000 square foot facility located in Wokingham, England, which houses sales, technical support and repair

services. The lease expires in January 2018. We also maintain small sales offices located close to Paris, France; Munich,

Germany; Singapore and Korea and a research and development office located near Seattle, Washington.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
We are from time to time involved in various lawsuits, legal proceedings or claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.

We do not believe any such legal proceedings or claims will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect 

on our business, liquidity, results of operations and financial condition. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties,

and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.



26 OVERLAND STORAGE   2006 ANNUAL REPORT

FORM 10-K | PART I I
OVERLAND STORAGE, INC.

>>

PAR T  I I

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters 
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “OVRL”. As of September 8, 2006, there were

approximately 82 shareholders of record. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate

paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The high and low sales prices of our common stock from June 28, 2004

through July 2, 2006 were as follows:

SALES PRICES

HIGH LOW

Fiscal Year 2006:

Fourth quarter $   9.38 $   6.61

Third quarter 9.86 8.04

Second quarter 8.75 7.49

First quarter 10.38 6.69

Fiscal Year 2005:

Fourth quarter $ 14.63 $ 9.44

Third quarter 16.84 14.28

Second quarter 17.01 13.72

First quarter 14.42 9.90

The above quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown or commission and may not necessarily

represent actual transactions.

SHARE REPURCHASE AUTHORIZATION  In October 2005, our board of directors expanded our share repurchase program to

allow for the purchase of up to 2.5 million shares of our common stock on the open market or through negotiated transactions.

This repurchase authority allows us to repurchase our common stock selectively from time to time in the open market, through

block trades or otherwise, or in privately negotiated transactions. Depending on market conditions and other factors, at any

time or from time to time, the board may modify the program or commence or suspend purchases without prior notice. There is

no fixed termination date for the repurchase program. During fiscal 2006 and 2005, an aggregate of approximately 1.3 million

shares and 32,500 shares, respectively, were repurchased at a cost of approximately $10.8 million and $309,000, respectively,

pursuant to the repurchase program. Repurchases during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 are summarized in the table below:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES UNDER SHARE REPURCHASE AUTHORIZATION

(C) TOTAL NUMBER OF    (D) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF
SHARES PURCHASED AS PART  SHARES THAT MAY YET BE 

(A) TOTAL NUMBER OF (B) AVERAGE PRICE OF PUBLICLY ANNOUNCED PURCHASED UNDER THE 
PERIOD SHARES PURCHASED PAID PER SHARE PLANS OR PROGRAMS PLANS OR PROGRAMS

April 3 through April 30, 2006 — $     — — 1,563,982

May 1 through May 28, 2006 293,600 8.25 293,600 1,270,382

May 29 through July 2, 2006 105,300 7.67 105,300 1,165,082

Total 398,900 8.10 398,900 1,165,082
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and the related

notes. This information should be read in conjunction with Item 7 of this report, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes set

forth at the pages indicated in Item 15(a)(1) of this Report.

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands, except for per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Income Statement Data:

Net revenues $ 209,038 $ 235,687 $ 238,139 $ 195,881 $ 163,380

Gross profit 46,446 60,917 64,654 54,018 42,445

(Loss) income from operations (25,931) 3,524 15,598 10,310 6,516

(Loss) income before income taxes (23,311) 5,068 16,199 10,193 6,839

Net (loss) income (19,486) 4,578 10,625 6,682 4,493

Net (loss) income per share(1):

Basic $      (1.42) $        0.33 $        0.79 $        0.59 $        0.42

Diluted $      (1.42) $        0.32 $        0.74 $        0.54 $        0.40

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $   62,512 $   76,887 $   69,657 $   55,020 $   26,884

Working capital 76,381 110,363 103,244 84,326 54,463

Total assets 144,769 164,554 144,851 130,922 81,003

Long-term debt, inclusive of current portion — — — 3,957 4,655

Shareholders’ equity 95,438 121,494 113,514 93,264 59,266

(1) See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of shares used in computing net income per share.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

The discussion in this section contains certain statements of a forward-looking nature relating to future events or our future

performance. Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressions or

variations of such words are intended to identify forward-looking statements, but are not the only means of identifying forward-

looking statements. Such statements are only predictions and actual events or results may differ materially. In evaluating such

statements, you should specifically consider various factors identified in this report, including the matters set forth under the caption

“Risk Factors,” which could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW  Our strategy is to become a market leader and innovative supplier of a complete portfolio of tiered data storage

solutions by providing intelligent storage appliances with embedded protection software designed to work together to ensure

that information is “automatically safe, readily available and always there.” We intend to deliver products to address all three

tiers of data storage: protected primary disk, secondary disk-based backup and tertiary automated tape libraries for archival.

Our focus will continue to be on mid-range solutions that can be easily sold worldwide through OEMs and our indirect network

of distributors and resellers. We intend to leverage our leadership position in mid-range tape automation to achieve a similar

position in primary and secondary intelligent disk-based appliances.

Fiscal 2006 and 2007 are significant transition years for Overland. We are currently in the midst of a major customer transition

during which sales to our largest OEM customer are declining while sales to a new tier-one OEM customer have not yet commenced.

Additionally, in fiscal 2006, we made the largest single year investment in new product development in the Company’s history,

both as a percent of revenue and in actual dollars spent. This investment level will decline to a more typical level during fiscal

2007. We are investing heavily in the development of ARCvault, our new line of tape automation products, expansion of REO,

our disk-based backup products, and our entry into the protected primary storage market through our August 2005 acquisition

of Zetta Systems (the acquisition of Zetta). After the acquisition of Zetta, the combined Overland and Zetta development teams

incorporated the Zetta technology into our new line of intelligent appliances called ULTAMUSTM.
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In August 2005, Hewlett-Packard Company (HP) informed us of its decision not to purchase from Overland its next-generation,

mid-range tape automation product line. HP will continue to purchase the tape automation products currently supplied by us for

some time, however, the new product from an alternate supplier is expected to replace the majority of those purchases eventually.

We cannot predict how quickly this transition will occur, but we believe the affect on our revenue in fiscal 2007 will be significant.

Our original three-year contract with HP expired in July 2006, but has been extended and will continue in effect until July 2009

unless terminated earlier by either party. The contract does not commit HP to buy specific quantities of product at any time.

In October 2005, Overland entered into a contract with a new tier-one OEM customer to supply it with Overland’s next

generation tape library. The contract has a three-year term with automatic one-year renewals thereafter, unless either 

party provides a non-renewal notice 180 days before the end of the then current term. We expect this business to contribute

significantly to our revenue over the life of the contract. Shipments to this OEM customer are currently scheduled to commence

in the first half of fiscal 2007.

The development of our new ARCvault line of tape automation products began in April 2005 and we launched the first two of

four such products through our branded sales channel in July 2006. ARCvault is based on a new platform that was developed

in-house by our engineering team. The new products will replace our existing loader and power-loader products and all are

designed to be price competitive in the marketplace. We expect that these new products will result in some erosion of our

branded channel sales of existing NEO 2000; the NEO line of products has significantly greater enterprise-class features 

and we believe it will continue to have a market with enterprise customers.

In October 2005, we introduced the REO 9000 Expansion Array. This array, developed in response to customer demand, enables

our REO product line to scale from one terabyte up to 38 terabytes. Shortly thereafter, we announced that we had signed a

license agreement with HP, who had chosen our REO Protection OS software as the basis for a disk-based virtual tape solution

that HP launched in May 2006. We anticipate that this license agreement could result in annual royalties and incremental

gross profit contribution to Overland in the range of $2.0 million to $4.0 million once the product has been fully deployed.

We completed the transfer of all of our manufacturing operations to Sanmina-SCI Corporation (Sanmina) in August 2005. 

In fiscal 2005, we recorded $2.1 million to cost of revenue in pretax charges for severance costs related to the outsourcing 

and other obligations. During the first three quarters of fiscal 2006, we recorded $770,000 in pretax charges to cost of revenue

for other obligations related to the outsourcing, including a charge of $704,000 for the estimated fair value of the liability

associated with leased warehouse space that we permanently ceased using in December 2005. In June 2006, we decided to

terminate the relationship with Sanmina and return manufacturing to San Diego. As a result, we recorded a pre-tax credit 

of $536,000 in the fourth quarter to reverse the remaining excess facilities liability previously recorded.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company recorded certain amounts relating to prior 2006 quarters and prior 

years resulting in a reduction of its net loss by $313,000 ($0.03 per share) and $324,000 ($0.02 per share) for the quarter and

year ended July 2, 2006, respectively. The Company concluded that the amounts were not material to any previously-reported

annual or interim period nor was the cumulative amount material to the current fiscal year. As such, the amounts were

recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 and prior periods were not restated.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES  Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of

operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires

that we make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and

related disclosure of contingent liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including, but not limited to, 

those related to revenue recognition, share-based compensation, bad debts, inventories, intangible and other long-lived assets,

warranty obligations and income taxes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions 

that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about 

the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from

these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation 

of our consolidated financial statements.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION  Revenue from sales of products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,

the price is fixed or determinable, collectibility is reasonably assured and delivery has occurred. Under this policy, revenue 

on direct product sales (excluding sales to distributors and certain OEM customers) is recognized upon shipment of products 

to our customers. These customers are not entitled to any specific right of return or price protection, except for any defective

product that may be returned under our warranty policy. Title and risk of loss transfer to the customer when the product 

leaves our dock. Product sales to distribution customers are subject to certain rights of return, stock rotation privileges and

price protection. Because we are unable to estimate our exposure for returned product or price adjustments, revenue from

shipments to these customers is not recognized until the related products are in turn sold to the ultimate customer by the

distributor. As part of our existing agreements with certain OEM customers, we ship products to various distribution hubs

around the world and retain ownership of that inventory until it is pulled by these OEM customers to fulfill their customer

orders, at which time revenue is recognized.

We have entered into various licensing agreements relating to our Variable Rate Randomizer (VR2) technology. These agreements

typically call for royalty fees based on sales by licensees of products containing VR2. Royalties on sales by licensees of products

containing VR2 are recorded when earned, generally in the period during which the licensee ships the products containing VR2

technology. In certain instances, the customer has elected to purchase from us the Applications Specific Integrated Circuit (ASIC)

chips embodying VR2, which are priced to include the cost of the chip plus an embedded royalty fee; and revenue on ASIC chip

sales is recorded as product revenue when earned, which is upon the shipment of the underlying ASIC chip incorporating the

VR2 technology to the customer.

When elements such as hardware and services are contained in an arrangement, we allocate revenue to the separate elements

based on relative fair value, provided we have fair value for all elements of the arrangement. If in an arrangement we have 

fair value for undelivered elements but not the delivered element, we defer the fair value of the undelivered elements and the

residual revenue is allocated to the delivered elements. Undelivered elements typically include services. Revenue from extended

warranty and product service contracts is initially deferred and recognized as revenue ratably over the contract period.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION  Share-based compensation expense can be significant to our results of operations, even

though no cash is used for such expense. In determining period expense associated with unvested options, we estimate the 

fair value of each option at the date of grant. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of the

award. This model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected volatility of our stock and the

expected term the average employee will hold the option prior to the date of exercise. In addition, we estimate pre-vesting

forfeitures for share-based awards that are not expected to vest. We primarily use historical data to determine the inputs and

assumptions to be used in the Black-Scholes pricing model. Changes in these inputs and assumptions could occur and could

materially affect the measure of estimated fair value and make it difficult to compare the results in future periods to our

current results.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS  We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts based on an assessment of the

collectibility of specific accounts and the overall condition of the accounts receivable portfolio. When evaluating the adequacy 

of the allowance for doubtful accounts, we analyze specific trade and other receivables, historical bad debts, customer credits,

customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customers’ payment terms 

and/or patterns. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to

make additional payments, then we may need to make additional allowances. Likewise, if we determine that we could realize

more of our receivables in the future than previously estimated, we would adjust the allowance to increase income in the 

period we made this determination. We review the allowance for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis and record adjustments 

as considered necessary.

INVENTORY VALUATION  We record inventories at the lower of cost or market. We assess the value of our inventories periodically

based upon numerous factors including expected product or material demand, current market conditions, technological

obsolescence, current cost and net realizable value. If necessary, we adjust our inventory for obsolete or unmarketable 

inventory equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value. Likewise, we record an

adverse purchase commitment liability when anticipated market sales prices are lower than committed costs. If actual market

conditions are less favorable than what we projected, we may need to record additional inventory adjustments and adverse

purchase commitments.
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BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS  Our business acquisitions typically result in recognition of intangible

assets (acquired technology) and in certain cases non-recurring charges associated with in-process research and development

(IPR&D), which affect the amount of current and future period charges and amortization expenses. We amortize our definite-

lived intangible assets using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, while IPR&D is recorded as a non-

recurring charge on the acquisition date.

The determination of the value of these components of a business combination and associated asset useful lives require

management to make various estimates and assumptions. Critical estimates in valuing intangible assets may include but are

not limited to: future expected cash flows from product sales and services, maintenance agreements, and acquired development

technologies and patents or trademarks; expected costs to develop the IPR&D into commercially viable products and estimated

cash flows from projects when completed; the acquired company’s brand awareness and market position; assumptions about 

the period of time the acquired products and services will continue to be used in our product portfolio; and discount rates.

Management’s estimates of fair value and useful lives are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are

inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur and assumptions may change.

Estimates using different assumptions could also produce significantly different results.

We assess potential impairments to intangible assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators

and future cash flows related to intangible assets are based on operational performance or viability of the acquired assets,

market conditions and other factors. Although there are inherent uncertainties in this assessment process, the estimates and

assumptions we use are consistent with our internal planning. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the

future, we may be required to record an impairment charge on all or a portion of our intangible assets. Furthermore, we cannot

predict the occurrence of future impairment-triggering events nor the impact such events might have on our reported asset

values. Future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that intangible assets associated with

our acquired assets are impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have an adverse impact on our results of operations. 

We periodically review the estimated remaining useful lives of our acquired intangible assets. A reduction in our estimate 

of remaining useful lives, if any, could result in increased amortization expense in future periods.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS  We test for recoverability of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. When the carrying value is not considered recoverable, an impairment loss,

for the amount by which the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value, is recognized with an offsetting reduction

in the carrying value of the related asset(s). In such circumstances, we may incur material charges relating to the impairment

of such asset. Fair value is generally determined based on the estimated future discounted cash flows over the remaining useful

life of the asset or asset group using a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent 

in our current business model. To date, we have not recorded any material impairment losses.

The assumptions supporting the cash flows, including the discount rates, are determined using management’s best estimates as

of the date of the impairment review. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required

to record impairment charges for these assets and future results of operations could be adversely affected.

WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS  We generally provide a three-year advance replacement return-to-factory warranty on our NEO

SERIES, REO SERIES, PowerLoader and LoaderXpress products. We also provide on-site service, where available, for the 

first warranty year of the NEO SERIES products for which we contract with third-party service providers. For our ARCvault

product, we offer a one-year advance replacement return-to-factory warranty. For most products, we offer a program called

XchangeNOW as part of our return-to-factory warranty which enables customers to receive an advance replacement unit

shipped within two business days after placing a service request. The customer ships the defective unit back to us using the

shipping materials from the replacement unit. We record a provision for estimated future warranty costs at the time of

shipment for both the return-to-factory and on-site warranties. If future actual costs to repair were to differ significantly 

from our estimates, we would record the impact of these unforeseen costs or cost reductions in subsequent periods. 

Separately priced extended on-site warranties are offered for sale to customers. We contract with outside vendors to provide

service relating to all on-site warranties. Extended warranty revenue and amounts paid in advance to outside service

organizations are deferred and recognized as revenue and cost of revenue, respectively, over the period of the service agreement.
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INCOME TAXES  The provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income

taxes. Under this approach, deferred taxes represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. The provision for income taxes generally represents income taxes paid or payable

for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. Deferred taxes result from differences between the

financial and tax bases of our assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax rates and tax laws when changes are

enacted. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when a judgment is made that it is considered more

likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized. A decision to record a valuation allowance results in an increase in income

tax expense or a decrease in income tax benefit (as we had in fiscal 2006). If the valuation allowance, recorded in fiscal 2006, 

is released in a future period, income tax expense will be reduced accordingly.

The calculation of tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex global tax regulations. We

recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions based on our estimates of whether, 

and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. If payment of these amounts ultimately proves to be unnecessary, the

reversal of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when we determine the liabilities are no

longer necessary. If the estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, a further charge to expense

would result.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  The following tables set forth certain financial data as a percentage of net revenue:

FISCAL YEAR 2006 2005 2004

Net revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of revenues 77.8 74.2 72.9

Gross profit 22.2 25.8 27.1

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 18.1 14.6 13.0

Research and development 9.0 4.5 3.0

General and administrative 7.0 5.2 4.6

In-process research and development 0.5 — —

34.6 24.3 20.6

(Loss) income from operations (12.4) 1.5 6.5

Other income, net 1.2 0.7 0.3

(Loss) income before income taxes (11.2) 2.2 6.8

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (1.9) 0.3 2.3

Net (loss) income (9.3) 1.9 4.5

FISCAL 2006 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2005

Net Revenue. Net revenue decreased from $235.7 million during fiscal 2005 to $209.0 million during fiscal 2006. The decrease

of $26.7 million, or 11.3%, is due to a 20.1% decrease in revenue from OEM customers offset by a 0.9% increase in sales 

of branded products and a 72.9% increase in extended warranty service revenue associated with more warranty contracts 

being sold. We finished the year with a $5.0 million backlog due to production and inventory problems at our outsourced

manufacturer which delayed shipping of products, principally to HP and to one of our Asia Pacific (APAC) OEM customers.

The decrease in OEM revenue is primarly due to the expected decline in shipments of our NEO products to HP and IBM as

these customers begin to transition to alternate products sourced from other suppliers. Net revenue from HP represented

approximately 49.7% of net revenue in fiscal 2006 compared to 54.3% of net revenue for fiscal 2005.

Net revenue from Overland branded products increased from $93.2 million during fiscal 2005 to $94.1 million during fiscal

2006. The increase of approximately $900,000 was the result of a 19.0% increase in sales of branded products in our APAC

region offset by a 12.5% decline in sales within our EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) region.

VR2 revenue during fiscal 2006 of $2.9 million was comprised of royalties of $1.8 million and chip sales of $1.1 million. 

VR2 revenue during fiscal 2005 of $2.2 million was comprised of royalties of $1.9 million and $240,000 in chip sales.
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A summary of the sales mix by product for the periods presented in the Consolidated Statement of Operations follows:

FISCAL YEAR 2006 2005 2004

LibraryXpress products:

NEO Series 62.8% 68.0% 68.8%

Loaders 7.4 8.9 10.3

70.2 76.9 79.1

Spare parts, drives, other 21.9 17.9 18.6

Disk based 6.5 4.2 0.7

VR2 1.4 1.0 1.6

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased from $60.9 million during fiscal 2005 to $46.4 million during fiscal 2006. The decrease 

of approximately $14.5 million or 23.8% is primarily the result of the 11.3% decline in revenue, as well as amortization expense

of $2.7 million related to technology obtained in the Zetta acquisition. Additionally, we experienced (i) approximately a 4.5%

increase in costs associated with all non-VR2 and non-spares and other products (which increases were not passed on to our

customers), (ii) a decrease in the number of units sold within our branded channel and to our OEMs, and (iii) redundant costs 

to support Sanmina, our outsourced manufacturer.

Share-Based Compensation. During fiscal 2006, we recorded $2.0 million of share-based compensation charges associated

with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), of which $13,000 was allocated to cost of revenue, $621,000 was allocated to sales and

marketing, $206,000 to research and development and $1.2 million to general and administrative expenses.

Sales and Marketing Expense. Sales and marketing expenses increased to $37.9 million during fiscal 2006 from $34.4 million

during fiscal 2005. The increase of approximately $3.5 million or 10.3% is primarily associated with increased compensation

expense of approximately $3.1 million associated with an increase in headcount of 10 employees and $615,000 in share-based

compensation expense not included in fiscal 2005, partially offset by reduced promotional spending of approximately $888,000.

Research and Development Expense. Research and development expenses increased to $18.8 million during fiscal 2006 from

$10.7 million during fiscal 2005. The increase of approximately $8.1 million or 75.5% is primarily due to a $5.7 million increase

in compensation costs associated with an increase in headcount resulting from the acquisition of the Zetta development team

and $1.6 million in costs related to development of our new tape library platform.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expenses increased to $14.6 million during fiscal 2006 

from $12.3 million during fiscal 2005. The increase of approximately $2.3 million or 18.2% is primarily due to (i) $1.1 million

share-based compensation costs not included in the prior year period, (ii) $902,000 in higher than expected legal fees due to 

the accumulation of our shares in early fiscal 2006 by a competitor, (iii) $105,000 severance costs and (iv) $197,000 in increased

IT spending, partially offset by a reduction in readiness costs associated with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

In-Process Research and Development. The purchase price of our recent acquisition of Zetta was assigned to the fair value 

of the assets acquired, including in-process research and development. As of the acquisition date, technological feasibility of the

in-process technology had not been established. Therefore, the in-process research and development of $1.1 million was

recorded as expense at the date of the acquisition.

The amount of the purchase price allocated to in-process research and development was based on established valuation

techniques used in the technology industry. The fair value assigned to the acquired in-process research and development 

was determined using the income approach, which discounts projected future cash flows to present value. The key assumptions

used in the valuation included, among others, expected completion date of the in-process projects identified as of the acquisition

date, estimated costs to complete the projects, revenue contributions and expense projections assuming the resulting product

has entered the market, and discount rate based on the risks associated with the development life cycle of the acquired 

in-process technology.
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Assumptions underlying the valuation of acquired in-process research and development from Zetta included the following:

PROJECT NAMES (in thousands, except percentages) NON-HIGH AVAILABILITY VERSION HIGH AVAILABILITY VERSION

Estimated costs to complete technology at aquisition date $ 164 $ 153

Percent completed as of acquisition date 57.0% 19.5%

Risk-adjusted discount rate 37.8% 37.8%

First period of expected revenue Third quarter FY 06 Fourth quarter FY 06

In comparison to our original expectations at the time of purchase, we have experienced a two quarter delay in both projects. The

non-high availability version of the product, referred to as ULTAMUS PRO 500, was launched in the first quarter of fiscal year 2007,

and the high availability version is still under development. As a consequence, we have incurred more development expense

than originally expected, and there has been a delay in generating the return on our investment. Despite this, we continue to

believe that the product will ultimately be successful and the value of the capitalized intangible assets will be recovered.

Interest Income. Interest income increased to $2.8 million during fiscal 2006 from $1.6 million during fiscal 2005. The increase

of approximately $1.2 million or 71.8% is due to higher average yields when compared to fiscal 2005.

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes. We recorded an income tax benefit of $3.8 million for fiscal 2006 compared to

income tax expense of $490,000 for fiscal 2005. The change of approximately $4.3 million is primarily due to our loss in fiscal

2006 versus income in fiscal 2005, partially offset by the impact of recording a full valuation allowance, against our net deferred

tax assets, for fiscal 2006. The benefit of $3.8 million recorded in fiscal 2006 represents the current benefit earned for losses

that can be carried back to prior years’ tax returns for refund claims.

FISCAL 2005 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2004

Net Revenue. Net revenue decreased from $238.1 million in fiscal 2004 to $235.7 million in fiscal 2005. The decrease of 

$2.4 million or 1.0% is primarily due to a 9.5% decrease in revenue from OEM customers. This decrease is primarily a result 

of declining sales to HP. Net revenue from HP represented approximately 54.3% of net revenue in fiscal 2005 compared to

approximately 58.8% in fiscal 2004.

Net revenue from Overland branded products increased from $79.4 million in fiscal 2004 to $93.2 million in fiscal 2005. The

increase of $13.8 million or 17.3% was primarily the result of an increase in sales of REO disk-based products and a $4.0 million

increase in revenue from Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) related to shipments under a large contract with a European

governmental agency. Fiscal 2004 product sales represent less than an entire year of REO sales as we began shipping the 

first REO product in August 2003. In addition, in October 2004, we introduced a new REO product which resulted in sales 

of approximately $7.1 million for fiscal 2005.

VR2 revenue in fiscal 2005 decreased from $3.8 million in fiscal 2004 to $2.2 million in fiscal 2005. This decrease of $1.6 million

or 42.1% was the result of declining chip sales. In fiscal 2005, royalties represented $1.9 million of VR2 revenue compared 

to $1.7 million in fiscal 2004. During fiscal 2005 chip sales decreased to $240,000 from $2.0 million in fiscal 2004.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased from $64.7 million in fiscal 2004 to $60.9 million in fiscal 2005. The decrease of approximately

$3.8 million or 5.8% is primarily due to the decrease in net revenue of $2.4 million, and an increase of $2.1 million in cost 

of revenue associated with the outsourcing of our manufacturing activities. In addition, during fiscal 2005 warranty costs

increased by $2.6 million as a result of more products under warranty compared to the prior year. These cost increases were

partially offset by favorable product mix within our branded channel and a larger concentration of higher margin sales 

of branded products versus lower margin OEM products.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased to $34.4 million in fiscal 2005 from $30.8 million 

in fiscal 2004. The increase of approximately $3.6 million or 11.5% is primarily associated with an expansion of our branded

sales force.
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Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses increased to $10.7 million in fiscal 2005 from

$7.3 million in fiscal 2004. The increase of approximately $3.4 million or 47.2% is primarily due to an increase of approximately

$1.4 million associated with an increase in headcount for further development of REO and other new products, and a related

increase in development costs of approximately $1.2 million.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased to $12.3 million in fiscal 2005 from

$10.9 million in fiscal 2004. The increase of approximately $1.4 million or 12.6% is primarily due to a $1.3 million increase in

consulting and auditing fees associated with compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and an increase 

of approximately $555,000 associated with an increase in general operating activities during fiscal 2005. These increases were

offset by a $639,000 decrease in legal fees in fiscal 2005, which primarily resulted from the settlement of the Raytheon patent

infringement lawsuit in April 2004.

Interest Income. Interest income increased to $1.5 million in fiscal 2005 from $533,000 in fiscal 2004. The increase of

approximately $1.0 million or 181.4% is due to higher average cash balances combined with higher average yields when

compared to fiscal 2004.

Provision for Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes decreased from $5.6 million in fiscal 2004 to $490,000 in fiscal 2005.

The decrease of approximately $5.1 million or 91.2% is primarily the result of the decrease in fiscal 2005 earnings compared 

to fiscal 2004 and changes in prior year estimates due to the favorable settlement of IRS audits and statute expirations.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  At June 30, 2006, our sources of liquidity were $62.5 million of cash, cash equivalents

and short-term investments and our unused credit facility of $10.0 million. We believe that these resources together with

anticipated cash from operations will be sufficient to fund our operations and to provide for our growth for the next twelve

months and into the foreseeable future.

Our primary source of liquidity has historically been cash generated from operations. During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, 

we generated $7.3 million, $8.3 million and $14.6 million, respectively, from operations.

In fiscal 2006, investing activities resulted in $16.0 million cash inflow compared to cash used in investing activities of 

$18.1 million and $59.2 million for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in cash provided by investing activities is

primarily the result of a net decrease of $28.9 million in purchases of short-term investments, offset by the acquisition of Zetta

Systems for $8.9 million. During fiscal 2005, we purchased short-term investments, net of maturities and sales, of $14.7 million

compared to a net purchase of short-term investments of $57.1 million in fiscal 2004. Capital expenditures during fiscal 2006,

2005 and 2004, were approximately $4.0 million, $3.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively. During fiscal 2006, capital

expenditures consisted primarily of software and tooling equipment to be used for our new products. In fiscal 2005 and 2004

capital expenditures consisted primarily of purchases of computers and related equipment.

In fiscal 2006, we used $8.5 million in cash related to financing activities, compared to cash provided by financing activities of

$2.6 million and $2.3 million in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. During fiscal 2006, we used cash to repurchase approximately

$10.8 million of our common stock which was offset by cash proceeds of approximately $2.3 million (i) from our employee’s

purchase of common stock through our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) and (ii) the exercise of stock options. In fiscal

2005, cash provided by financing activities consisted of $2.9 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our

ESPP and upon exercise of stock options, offset by $309,000 used to repurchase shares of our common stock on the open market

under our share repurchase authorization plan. Proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our ESPP and the exercise

of stock options were $6.3 million in fiscal 2004.

At June 30, 2006, we had a credit facility consisting of a $10.0 million revolving line of credit for working capital purposes that

expires on November 30, 2006. The line of credit is secured by certain assets. Interest on the line of credit is set at the bank’s

prime rate (8.25% at June 30, 2006) in effect from time to time minus 0.25% or, at our option, a rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.25%.

The loan agreement that governs the credit facility contains certain financial ((i) quick assets to current liabilities of not less

than 2.00:1.00 and (ii) total liabilities to tangible net worth of less than 1.00:to1.00) and non-financial covenants (i.e. reporting,

etc). As of June 30, 2006, we were in compliance with all covenants and no amounts were outstanding under the line of credit.
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In October 2005, our board of directors expanded our share repurchase program to allow for the purchase of up to 2.5 million

shares of our common stock on the open market or through negotiated transactions. This repurchase authority allows us to

repurchase our common stock selectively from time to time in the open market, through block trades or otherwise, or in privately

negotiated transactions. Depending on market conditions and other factors, at any time or from time to time, the board may

modify the program or commence or suspend purchases without prior notice. There is no fixed termination date for the repurchase

program. During fiscal 2006 and 2005, an aggregate of approximately 1.3 million shares and 32,500 shares, respectively, 

were repurchased at a cost of approximately $10.8 million and $309,000, respectively, pursuant to the repurchase program.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  We have no off-balance sheet arrangements or significant guarantees to third parties

not fully recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets or fully disclosed in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS  The following schedule summarizes our contractual obligations to make future payments: 

LESS THAN AFTER 5
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (in thousands) TOTAL 1 YEAR 1-3 YEARS 3-5 YEARS YEARS

Operating lease obligations $ 27,630 $   3,300 $ 6,614 $ 6,890 $ 10,826

Purchase obligations 15,367 15,359 8 — —

Total contractual obligations $ 42,997 $ 18,659 $ 6,622 $ 6,890 $ 10,826

INFLATION  Inflation has not had a significant impact on our operations during the periods presented. Historically, we have been

able to pass on to our customers increases in raw material prices caused by inflation. If at any time we cannot pass on such increases,

our margins could suffer. Our exposure to the effects of inflation could be magnified by the concentration of OEM business.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  See Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows due to adverse

changes in financial and commodity market prices and rates. We are exposed to market risk in the areas of changes in United

States interest rates and changes in foreign currency exchange rates as measured against the U.S. dollar. These exposures are

directly related to our normal operating and funding activities. Historically, we have not used derivative instruments or

engaged in hedging activities.

INTEREST RATE RISK. All of our fixed income investments are classified as available-for-sale and therefore reported on the

balance sheet at market value. Changes in the overall level of interest rates affect our interest income that is generated from

our investments. For fiscal 2006, total interest income was $2.8 million with investments yielding an annual average of 4.1% 

on a worldwide basis. The interest rate level was up approximately 190 basis points from 2.2% in fiscal 2005. If a comparable

increase or decrease in overall interest rates (190 basis points) were to occur in fiscal 2007, our interest income would increase

or decrease approximately $1.3 million, assuming consistent investment levels.

The table below presents the cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances and related weighted-average interest

rates at the end of fiscal 2006. The cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances approximate fair value:

APPROXIMATE WEIGHTED-AVERAGE
(in thousands) MARKET VALUE INTEREST RATE

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,315 5.2%

Short-term investments:

Less than 1 year — —

Due in 1 – 2 years 2,600 5.2%

Due in 2 – 5 years 1,919 4.1%

Due after 5 years 37,678 5.0%

$ 62,512 5.1%
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The table above includes the United States dollar equivalent of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, including

$221,000 and $201,000 equivalents denominated in the British Pound Sterling and the Euro, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK. We conduct business on a global basis and essentially all of our products sold in international

markets are denominated in U.S. dollars. Historically, export sales have represented a significant portion of our sales and 

are expected to continue to represent a significant portion of sales.

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, France and Germany incur costs which are denominated in local

currencies. As exchange rates vary, these results when translated into U.S. dollars may vary from expectations and adversely

impact overall expected results. The effect of exchange rate fluctuations on our results during fiscal 2006 was not material.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are set forth at the pages indicated in

Item 15(a)(1) and 15(a)(2), respectively.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including

our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and

procedures, as such term is defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, 

our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were 

not effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report as a result of the material weakness described below.

Notwithstanding the material weakness, our management concluded that the financial statements included in this annual

report fairly present, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods

presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  Our management is responsible for

establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and

15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 

for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 

the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial

officer, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 2, 2006.

In making this assessment, management used the criteria established in the framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) entitled Internal Control—Integrated Framework.
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As of July 2, 2006, the Company did not maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of accounts payable 

and accrued expenses. Specifically, controls over cut-off and completeness of accounts payable and accrued expenses were

insufficient to ensure that invoices from certain vendors were properly evaluated at period end. This control deficiency resulted

in audit adjustments to the Company’s 2006 annual consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated financial

statements for the quarter ended July 2, 2006. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the

Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities, cost of revenue, and operating expenses that would not be prevented 

or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

Because of this material weaknesses, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over

financial reporting as of July 2, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued 

by the COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of July 2, 2006 has been

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which

appears herein.

PLAN FOR REMEDIATION OF MATERIAL WEAKNESSES  Management has identified an internal control deficiency and reviewed

this internal control deficiency with the audit committee and has advised the audit committee that the deficiency represents 

a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. We believe the deficiency resulted primarily from the

departures of our controller and accounting manager in April and May 2006, and the resulting reassignment of tasks until 

the positions were filled in June and July 2006.

Management and the audit committee have adopted remedial measures that are designed to address the material weaknesses.

The remedial measures include the following:

• Recruitment of a new controller and accounting manager in June and July 2006 to replace departed personnel, 

and the reassignment of tasks to the new personnel consistent with our historical practices.

• Revisions to our controls concerning cut-offs and accruals in September 2006 to better assure completeness,

valuation and existence of accounts payable and accured expenses.

At the direction of, and in consultation with, the audit committee, management is currently implementing the remedial

measures discussed above.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  Except as set forth above, there were no changes in our

internal control over financial reporting during our fiscal quarter ended July 2, 2006 that have materially affected, or are

reasonably likely to materially effect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information
June 19, 2006, we entered into an Addendum to Product Purchase Agreement with Hewlett-Packard Company (HP) under

which we agreed to extend to July 30, 2007 the term of the original Product Purchase Agreement with HP dated July 30, 2003.

After July 30, 2007, the agreement will continue until July 30, 2009 unless terminated earlier pursuant to the terms of the

original agreement.

This disclosure is provided in lieu of disclosure under Item 1.01 of Form 8-K.
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ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
The information required by this item is included under the captions entitled “Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers,” and

“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement to be filed for our 2006 Annual Meeting 

of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted the Overland Storage, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, a Code that applies to our directors, officers

and employees. A copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is publicly available on our website at www.overlandstorage.com.

If we make any substantive amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waiver from a provision 

of the code applying to our principal executive officer or our principal financial or accounting officer, we will disclose the nature

of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is included under the caption entitled “Compensation of Executive Officers,”

“Non-Employee Director Compensation” and “Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors on Executive

Compensation” in our Proxy Statement to be filed for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein 

by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item is included under the caption entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

and Management” in our Proxy Statement to be filed for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein

by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
The information required by this item is included under the caption entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions”

in our Proxy Statement to be filed for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this item is included under the caption entitled “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” 

in our Proxy Statement to be filed for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a)(1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS The following Consolidated Financial Statements of Overland Storage, Inc. and Report 

of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included in a separate section of this Report at the page numbers 

so indicated:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1 to F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

for Years Ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7 to F-25

(a)(2) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable 

or are not required or the information required to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements 

or Notes thereto.

(a)(3) EXHIBITS
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated June 20, 2003 among Overland, Okapi Acquisition Co., Inc. and Okapi Software, Inc. 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 26, 2003). ++

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 8, 2005 among Overland, Zeppole Acquisition Corp. and Zetta Systems, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10K filed September 15, 2005). ++

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 27, 2002).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2006).

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 26, 2005).

4.1 Specimen stock certificate (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 27, 2002).

4.2 Shareholder Rights Agreement dated August 22, 2005 between Overland and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Transfer Agent 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 26, 2005).

10.1 Build-to-Suit Single Tenant Lease dated October 12, 2000 between Overland and LBA-VIF One, LLC 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2001).

10.2 First Amendment to Lease dated January 18, 2001 between Overland and LBA Overland, LLC, as successor-in-interest to LBA-VIF One, LLC
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 28, 2001).

10.3 Second Amendment to Lease dated March 8, 2001 between Overland and LBA Overland, LLC 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 28, 2001).

10.4 Business Loan Agreement dated November 28, 2001 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 13, 2002).

10.5 Security Agreement dated November 28, 2001 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 13, 2002).

10.6 Master Revolving Note dated November 28, 2001 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 13, 2002).

10.7 Variable Rate-Single Payment Note dated November 28, 2001 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 13, 2002).
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10.8 First Modification to Business Loan Agreement dated August 13, 2002 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 13, 2002).

10.9 Loan Modification to Business Loan Agreement dated August 30, 2002 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 10, 2004).

10.10 Second Modification to Business Loan Agreement and Addendum A dated September 10, 2003 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004).

10.11 Loan Revision/Extension Agreement dated September 10, 2003 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004).

10.12 Third Modification to Business Loan Agreement dated October 25, 2004 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 11, 2005).

10.13 Loan Revision/Extension Agreement dated October 22, 2004 between Overland and Comerica Bank-California 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 11, 2005).

10.14 Fourth Modification to Business Loan Agreement dated November 8, 2005 between Overland and Comerica Bank 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2006).

10.15 VR2 Technology License Agreement dated April 27, 2000 between Overland and Storage Technology Corp. 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed July 25, 2000). +

10.16 Amendment to VR2 Technology License Agreement dated June 18, 2002 between Overland and Storage Technology Corp. 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 27, 2002). +

10.17 Second Amendment to VR2Technology License Agreement dated November 7, 2003 between Overland and Storage Technology Corp.
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004). +

10.18 Amendment Three to VR2 Technology License Agreement dated March 29, 2004 between Overland and Storage Technology Corp.
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 10, 2004). +

10.19 Base Agreement #4902RL1317 dated November 1, 2002 between Overland and International Business Machines Corporation 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004). +

10.20 Amendment dated October 6, 2005 to Statement of Work #4902RL1340 to Base Agreement #4902RL1317 between Overland and
International Business Machines Corporation (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2006).

10.21 Product Purchase Agreement No. 1585-042103 dated July 31, 2003 between Overland and Hewlett Packard Company 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004). +

10.22 Addendum to Product Purchase Agreement No. 1585-042103 effective July 30, 2006 between Overland and Hewlett Packard Company.

10.23 Manufacturing Services Agreement between Overland Storage, Inc. and Sanmina-SCI Corporation effective as of November 23, 2004
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 11, 2005). +

10.24 Amendment No. 1 to Manufacturing Services Agreement between Overland Storage, Inc. and Sanmina-SCI Corporation effective 
as of May 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Kfiled September 15, 2005). +

10.25* Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Overland and each of its directors and officers 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 13, 2002).

10.26* Form of Retention Agreement entered into between Overland and each of its executive officers 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 28, 2001).

10.27* Employment Agreement dated March 12, 2001 between Overland and Christopher Calisi 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2001).

10.28* Letter Agreement dated November 22, 2005 between Overland and Christopher Calisi 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed November 29, 2005).

10.29* Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2000 between Overland and Vernon A. LoForti 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 14, 2001).

10.30* Offer Letter dated June 27, 2005 between Overland and George Karabatsos 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 12, 2005).

10.31* Separation and General Release Agreement dated July 24, 2006 between Overland and George Karabatsos 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed July 24, 2006).

10.32* Second Amendment to 1995 Stock Option Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-8 Registration Statement No. (333-41754) filed July 19, 2000).

10.33* Form of Stock Option Agreement for options granted under the 1995 Stock Option Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 28, 2001).



Harvesting the growth of our INVESTMENTS 41

10.34* First Amendment to 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-8 Registration Statement No. (333-41754) filed July 19, 2000).

10.35* Form of Stock Option Agreement for options granted under the 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 28, 2001).

10.36* 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 27, 2002).

10.37* Form of Notice of Stock Option Award and Stock Option Award Agreement for options granted under 2000 Stock Option Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed May 15, 2001).

10.38* 2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-8 Registration Statement No. (333-75060) filed December 13, 2001).

10.39* Form of Notice of Stock Option Award and Stock Option Award Agreement for options granted under 2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 27, 2002).

10.40* 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 11, 2005).

10.41* Form of Stock Option Agreement for options granted to senior officers under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004).

10.42* Form of Stock Option Agreement for options granted to outside directors under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004).

10.43* Form of Standard Stock Option Agreement for options granted under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed February 10, 2004).

10.44* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for restricted stock granted under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 15, 2005).

10.45* Amended and Restated 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended August 22, 2005 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed November 14, 2005).

10.46* Employment Agreement dated May 16, 2005 between Overland and W. Michael Gawarecki 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 15, 2005).

10.47* Separation and General Release Agreement dated March 31, 2006 between Overland and Diane Gallo 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K filed March 22, 2006).

10.48* Summary Sheet of Director and Executive Officer Compensation.

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K filed September 10, 2004).

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

31.1 Certification of Christopher Calisi, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Vernon A. LoForti, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed 
by Christopher Calisi, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Vernon A. LoForti, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

+ The Company has requested confidential treatment for certain portions of this Exhibit.

++ Certain schedules and similar attachments have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of the omitted
schedules and similar attachments will be provided supplementally to the SEC upon request.

* Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

OVERLAND STORAGE, INC.
Dated: September 15, 2006 By: /s/ CHRISTOPHER CALISI

Christopher Calisi

President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints

Christopher Calisi and Vernon A. LoForti, jointly and severally, as his attorney-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, 

for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with

exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying

and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue

hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ CHRISTOPHER CALISI President, Chief Executive Officer and Director September 15, 2006

Christopher Calisi (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ VERNON A. LoFORTI Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary September 15, 2006

Vernon A. LoForti (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ MARK BARRENECHEA Director September 15, 2006

Mark Barrenechea

/s/ ROBERT A. DEGAN Director September 15, 2006

Robert A. Degan

/s/ SCOTT McCLENDON Chairman of the Board September 15, 2006

Scott McClendon

/s/ WILLIAM MILLER Director September 15, 2006

William Miller

/s/ MICHAEL NORKUS Director September 15, 2006

Michael Norkus
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF OVERLAND STORAGE, INC.

We have completed integrated audits of Overland Storage, Inc.’s 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial statements and of 

its internal control over financial reporting as of July 2, 2006 and an audit of its 2004 consolidated financial statements in

accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based 

on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing 

under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Overland Storage, Inc. and its subsidiaries 

at July 2, 2006 and July 3, 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended July 2, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial

statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for share-based

payments during the year ended July 2, 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting Also, we have audited management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report

on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that Overland Storage, Inc. did not maintain effective

internal control over financial reporting as of July 2, 2006, because the Company did not maintain effective controls over the

completeness and cutoff of accounts payable and accrued expenses, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment

and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit 

of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,

evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, 

and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 

a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
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of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 

or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Amaterial weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood

that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The following

material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment. As of July 2, 2006, the Company did not

maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of accounts payable and accrued expenses. Specifically, controls

over cut-off and completeness of accounts payable and accrued expenses were insufficient to ensure that invoices from certain

vendors were properly evaluated at period end. This control deficiency resulted in audit adjustments to the Company’s 2006

annual consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated financial statements for the quarter ended July 2, 2006.

Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of the Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities,

cost of revenue, and operating expenses that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined 

that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness. This material weakness was considered in determining the nature,

timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2006 consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated

financial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Overland Storage, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control over financial

reporting as of July 2, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated

Framework issued by the COSO. Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the

achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Overland Storage, Inc. has not maintained effective internal control over

financial reporting as of July 2, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued 

by the COSO.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Diego, California

September 13, 2006
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JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $  20,315 $     5,498

Short-term investments 42,197 71,389

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 

of $436 and $298, respectively 30,321 37,703

Inventories 14,978 19,108

Deferred tax assets 2,147 3,741

Other current assets 9,114 11,456

Total current assets 119,072 148,895

Property and equipment, net 11,026 8,758

Intangible assets, net 12,615 5,193

Other assets 2,056 1,708

Total assets $ 144,769 $ 164,554

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $  17,399 $  17,015

Accrued liabilities 15,330 12,460

Accrued payroll and employee compensation 4,277 3,973

Income taxes payable 278 926

Accrued warranty 5,407 4,158

Total current liabilities 42,691 38,532

Deferred tax liabilities 2,147 1,454

Other liabilities 4,493 3,074

Total liabilities 49,331 43,060

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, no par value, 45,000 shares authorized; 

13,230 and 14,123 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 70,496 77,494

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (347) (312)

Deferred compensation — (463)

Retained earnings 25,289 44,775

Total shareholders’ equity 95,438 121,494

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 144,769 $ 164,554

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FISCAL YEAR (in thousands, except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004

Net revenue:

Product sales $ 207,207 $ 233,695 $ 236,341

Royalty fees 1,831 1,992 1,798

209,038 235,687 238,139

Cost of revenue 162,592 174,770 173,485

Gross profit 46,446 60,917 64,654

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 37,940 34,382 30,848

Research and development 18,752 10,687 7,259

General and administrative 14,564 12,324 10,949

In process research and development 1,121 — —

72,377 57,393 49,056

(Loss) income from operations (25,931) 3,524 15,598

Other income (expense):

Interest income 2,771 1,613 601

Interest expense (12) (76) (68)

Other income (expense), net (139) 7 68

(Loss) income before income taxes (23,311) 5,068 16,199

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (3,825) 490 5,574

Net (loss) income $  (19,486) $     4,578 $   10,625

Net (loss) income per share:

Basic $      (1.42) $        0.33 $       0.79

Diluted $      (1.42) $        0.32 $       0.74

Shares used in computing net income per share:

Basic 13,716 13,899 13,384

Diluted 13,716 14,429 14,404

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ACCUMULATED
OTHER TOTAL

COMPREHENSIVE DEFERRED RETAINED SHAREHOLDERS’
(in thousands) SHARES AMOUNT INCOME LOSS COMPENSATION EARNINGS EQUITY

Balance at June 30, 2003 12,959 $  63,884 $ (192) — $ 29,572 $   93,264

Stock option and purchase plans 735 6,251 — — — 6,251

Tax benefits from exercise of stock options — 3,438 — — — 3,438

Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — 10,625 10,625

Foreign currency translation — — (31) — — (31) 

Unrealized loss on short-term 

investments — — (33) — — (33)

Total comprehensive income — — — — — 10,561

Balance at June 30, 2004 13,694 73,573 (256) — 40,197 113,514

Stock option and purchase plans 362 2,972 — — — 2,972

Issuance of restricted stock 100 — — — — —

Deferred compensation — 543 — (463) — 80

Repurchase of common stock (33) (309) — — — (309)

Tax benefits from exercise of stock options — 715 — — — 715

Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — 4,578 4,578

Foreign currency translation — — 24 — — 24

Unrealized loss on short-term 

investments — — (80) — — (80)

Total comprehensive income — — — — — 4,522

Balance at June 30, 2005 14,123 77,494 (312) (463) 44,775 121,494

Reverse deferred compensation upon

adoption of SFAS No.123(R) — (463) — 463 — —

Stock option and purchase plans 349 2,258 — — — 2,258

Issuance of restricted stock, net 61 — — — — —

Repurchase of common stock (1,303) (10,804) — — — (10,804)

Share-based compensation expense — 2,011 — — — 2,011

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss — — — — (19,486) (19,486)

Foreign currency translation — — 136 — — 136

Unrealized loss on short-term 

investments — — (171) — — (171)

Total comprehensive loss — — — — — (19,521)

Balance at June 30, 2006 13,230 $  70,496 $ (347) $     — $ 25,289 $   95,438

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Operating activities:
Net (loss)income $ (19,486) $       4,578 $     10,625
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 6,884 4,289 4,164
Deferred tax provision (1,429) (1,071) (885)
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 159 97 10
Acquired in-process research and development 1,121 — —
Tax benefits from exercise of stock options — 715 3,438
Share -based compensation 2,011 109 —
Realized loss (gain) on short-term investments 23 (2) —
Amortization of discount on short-term investments 122 147 29
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 17 35 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition:

Accounts receivable 7,223 (4,006) (1,954)
Inventories 4,130 (3,982) 4,136
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,324 11,650 (218)
Accrued payroll and employee compensation 282 866 (87)
Other assets and liabilities, net 2,875 (5,172) (4,660)

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,256 8,253 14,598

Investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments (69,878) (114,218) (132,666)
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 95,922 95,252 75,569
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 2,832 4,316 —
Capital expenditures (3,972) (3,406) (2,141)
Net cash payments to acquire the stock of Zetta Systems, Inc. (8,857) — —

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 16,047 (18,056) (59,238)

Financing activities:
Payments on long-term debt — — (3,957)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and the sale 

of stock under the employee stock purchase plan 2,258 2,943 6,251
Repurchase of common stock (10,804) (309) —

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (8,546) 2,634 2,294
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 60 24 (31)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 14,817 (7,145) (42,377)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,498 12,643 55,020

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  20,315 $      5,498 $    12,643

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $        735 $       2,555 $      4,590

Cash paid for interest $       9 $            — $             75

Non-cash investing activities:
Change in net unrealized loss on short-term investments $        171 $            80 $             33

Capital expenditures received not paid as of year end $        709 $             — $             —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1. Operations  and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

GENERAL  Overland Storage, Inc. (We, Overland or the Company) was incorporated on September 8, 1980, under the laws of 

the State of California. For more than 25 years we have delivered data protection solutions designed for backup and recovery 

to ensure business continuity. Historically, we have focused on delivering a portfolio of tape automation solutions including 

loader and library systems designed for small business and midrange computing environments.

The Company operates and reports using a 52-53 week fiscal year with each quarter ending on the Sunday closest to the

calendar quarter. For ease of presentation, the Company’s  last fiscal year is considered to end on June 30, 2006. For example,

references to fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 refer to the fiscal year ended July 2, 2006, July 3, 2005 and June 28, 2004, respectively.

Fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 contained 52 weeks, 53 weeks and 52 weeks, respectively.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company recorded certain amounts relating to prior 2006 quarters and prior years

resulting in a reduction of its net loss by $313,000 ($0.03 per share) and $324,000 ($0.02 per share) for the quarter and year

ended July 2, 2006, respectively. The Company concluded that the amounts were not material to any previously-reported annual

or interim period nor was the cumulative amount material to the current fiscal year. As such, the amounts were recorded in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 and prior periods were not restated.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly

owned subsidiaries, Overland Storage (Europe) Ltd., Overland Storage SARL, Overland Storage GmbH, Okapi Acquisition 

Co., Inc., Zetta Systems, Inc., and Overland Storage Export Limited, a foreign sales corporation. All significant intercompany

accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates have been prepared

on the basis of the most current and best available information and actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant

estimates made by management include revenue recognition, share-based compensation, allowance for doubtful accounts,

inventory valuation, warranty accrual, valuation of intangible assets, long-lived assets and the valuation allowance on deferred

tax assets, among others.

REVENUE RECOGNITION  Revenue from sales of products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, 

the price is fixed or determinable, collectibility is reasonably assured and delivery has occurred. Under this policy, revenue 

on direct product sales (excluding sales to distributors and certain OEM customers) is recognized upon shipment of products 

to our customers. These customers are not entitled to any specific right of return or price protection, except for any defective

product that may be returned under our warranty policy. Title and risk of loss transfer to the customer when the product 

leaves our dock. Product sales to distribution customers are subject to certain rights of return, stock rotation privileges and 

price protection. Because we are unable to estimate our exposure for returned product or price adjustments, revenue from

shipments to these customers is not recognized until the related products are in turn sold to the ultimate customer by the

distributor. As part of our existing agreements with certain OEM customers, we ship products to various distribution hubs

around the world and retain ownership of that inventory until it is pulled by these OEM customers to fulfill their customer

orders, at which time revenue is recognized.
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We have entered into various licensing agreements relating to our Variable Rate Randomizer (VR2) technology. These agreements

typically call for royalty fees based on sales by licensees of products containing VR2. Royalties on sales by licensees of products

containing VR2 are recorded when earned, generally in the period during which the licensee ships the products containing VR2

technology. In certain instances, the customer has elected to purchase from us the Applications Specific Integrated Circuit (ASIC)

chips embodying VR2, which are priced to include the cost of the chip plus an embedded royalty fee; and revenue on ASIC chip

sales is recorded as product revenue when earned, which is upon the shipment of the underlying ASIC chip incorporating the

VR2 technology to the customer.

When elements such as hardware and services are contained in an arrangement, we allocate revenue to the separate elements

based on relative fair value, provided we have fair value for all elements of the arrangement. If in an arrangement we have fair

value for undelivered elements but not the delivered element, we defer the fair value of the undelivered elements and the residual

revenue is allocated to the delivered elements.  Undelivered elements typically include services.  Revenue from extended

warranty and product service contracts is initially deferred and recognized as revenue ratably over the contract period.

WARRANTY AND EXTENDED WARRANTY  We generally provide a three-year advance replacement return-to-factory warranty 

on our NEO SERIES®, REO SERIES®, PowerLoader® and LoaderXpress® products. We also provide on-site service, where

available, for the first warranty year of the NEO SERIES products for which we contract with third-party service providers. 

For most products, we offer a program called XchangeNOW® as part of our return-to-factory warranty which enables customers

to receive an advance replacement unit shipped within two business days after placing a service request. The customer ships

the defective unit back to us using the shipping materials from the replacement unit. We record a provision for estimated future

warranty costs for both the return-to-factory and on-site warranties. If future actual costs to repair were to differ significantly

from our estimates, we would record the impact of these unforeseen costs or cost reductions in subsequent periods. 

Separately priced extended on-site warranties are offered for sale to customers of other product lines. We contract with outside

vendors to provide service relating to all on-site warranties. Extended warranty revenue and amounts paid in advance to

outside service organizations are deferred and recognized as revenue and cost of revenue, respectively, over the period of the

service agreement.

Changes in the liability for product warranty and deferred revenue associated with extended warranties were as follows:

(in thousands) PRODUCT WARRANTY DEFERRED REVENUE

Liability at June 30, 2004 $ 2,594 $  3,091

Settlements made during the period (1,852) (3,975)

Change in liability for warranties issued during the period 3,047 6,311

Change in liability for preexisting warranties 369 35

Liability at June 30, 2005 4,158 5,462

Settlements made during the period (1,908) (6,871)

Change in liability for warranties issued during the period 3,417 10,256

Change in liability for preexisting warranties (260) (25)

Liability at June 30, 2006 $ 5,407 $  8,822

SHIPPING AND HANDLING  Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling are included in product sales and costs

incurred related to shipping and handling are included in cost of revenue.

ADVERTISING COSTS  Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 were

$1.4 million, $1.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS  Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Software development 

costs are expensed until technological feasibility has been established, at which time any additional costs would be capitalized

in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Standards (SFAS) No. 86, Accounting

for the Costs of Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed. Because we believe our current process for developing



software is essentially completed concurrently with the establishment of technological feasibility, which occurs upon the

completion of a working model, no costs have been capitalized for any of the periods presented.

SEGMENT DATA  The Company reports segment data based on the management approach. The management approach

designates the internal reporting that is used by management for making operating and investment decisions and evaluating

performance as the source of the Company’s  reportable segments. The Company uses one measurement of profitability and 

does not disaggregate its business for internal reporting. Based on the criteria of SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments 

of an Enterprise and Related Information, the Company has determined that it operates in one segment providing data storage

solutions for mid-range computer networks. The Company discloses information about products and services, geographic areas

and major customers.

INFORMATION ABOUT PRODUCTS AND SERVICES  The following table summarizes net revenue by product:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

LibraryXpress products:

NEO Series $ 131,371 $ 160,343 $ 163,795

Loaders 15,434 20,914 24,442

146,805 181,257 188,237

Spare parts, drives, other 45,686 42,303 44,405

Disk based 13,603 9,895 1,719

VR2 2,944 2,232 3,778

$ 209,038 $ 235,687 $ 238,139

INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHIC AREAS  The Company markets its products domestically and internationally, with its

principal international market being Europe. The tables below contain information about the geographical areas in which 

the Company operates. Revenue is attributed to the location to which the product was shipped. Long-lived assets are based 

on location of domicile.

(in thousands) NET REVENUES LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Fiscal 2006

United States $   90,412 $ 22,933

United Kingdom 47,914 689

Rest of Europe 29,098 19

Singapore 22,940 —

Other foreign countries 18,674 —

$ 209,038 $ 23,641

Fiscal 2005

United States $  97,156 $ 13,276

United Kingdom 65,845 667

Rest of Europe 28,464 8

Singapore 21,822 —

Other foreign countries 22,400 —

$ 235,687 $ 13,951

Fiscal 2004

United States $ 121,641 $ 14,048

United Kingdom 67,209 821

Rest of Europe 24,355 —

Singapore 9,415 —

Other foreign countries 15,519 —

$ 238,139 $ 14,869
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CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS  Highly liquid investments with insignificant interest rate risk and

original maturities of three months or less, when purchased, are classified as cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are comprised

of money market funds. The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments.

Investments with maturities greater than three months are classified as short-term investments. The Company manages its

cash equivalents and short-term investments as a single portfolio of highly marketable securities, all of which are intended 

to be available for the Company’s  current operations. As such, all of the Company’s  short-term investments are classified as

available-for-sale and are reported at fair value, generally as determined by quoted market prices, with any unrealized gains

and losses, net of tax, recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’

equity. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Investments in auction rate securities are

recorded, in short-term investments, at cost, which approximates fair value due to their variable interest rates, which typically

reset every 27 to 34 days, and, despite the long-term nature of their stated contractual maturities, the Company has the ability

to quickly liquidate these securities.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS  The Company records accounts receivable at invoice

amount and does not charge interest thereon. The Company estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts based on an assessment

of the collectibility of specific accounts and the overall condition of the accounts receivable portfolio. When evaluating the

adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, the Company analyzes specific trade and other receivables, historical bad

debts, customer credits, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in

customers’ payment terms and/or patterns. The Company reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts on a quarterly basis 

and records adjustments as considered necessary. Customer accounts are written-off against the allowance for doubtful

accounts when an account is considered uncollectible.

INVENTORIES  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in-first-out method) or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  Property and equipment are recorded at cost. The Company also capitalizes qualifying internal

use software costs incurred during the application development stage. Depreciation expense is computed using the straight-line

method. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the

lease. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Machinery and equipment 3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Computer equipment and software 1-5 years

Expenditures for normal maintenance and repair are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements are capitalized. 

Upon the sale or retirement of property or equipment, the asset cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed 

from the respective accounts and any gain or loss is included in the results of operations.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS  The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and equipment and

certain identifiable intangible assets, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-

Lived Assets. The Company tests for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value

may not be recoverable. We consider such events or changes, as potential triggers of non-recoverability:

• significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

• significant changes in the manner of use of the assets or the strategy for our overall business;

• significant decrease in the market value of the assets; and

• significant negative industry or economic trends.

When the carrying value is not considered recoverable, an impairment loss, for the amount by which the carrying value of a

long-lived asset exceeds its fair value, is recognized with an offsetting reduction in the carrying value of the related asset(s).
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Fair value is generally determined based on the estimated future discounted cash flows over the remaining useful life of the

asset using a discount rate determined by management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in the Company’s  current

business model.

DEFERRED RENT  Rent expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The difference between rent

expense and amounts paid under the lease agreements is recorded in other liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION  The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, for which the functional currency is 

the local currency, are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities

and a weighted-average exchange rate during the year for revenue, expenses, gains and losses. Translation adjustments 

are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income within shareholders' equity. Gains or losses from foreign currency

transactions are recognized currently in income. Such transactions resulted in a loss of $186,000, a gain of $62,000 and 

a gain of $69,000 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

INCOME TAXES  The Company provides for income taxes utilizing the asset and liability approach of accounting for income

taxes. Under this approach, deferred taxes represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. The provision for income taxes generally represents income taxes paid or payable

for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. Deferred taxes result from differences between the

financial and tax bases of the Company’s  assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax rates and tax laws when

changes are enacted. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when a judgment is made that it is

considered more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized. A decision to record a valuation allowance results in 

an increase in income tax expense or a decrease in income tax benefit (as we had in fiscal 2006). If the valuation allowance,

recorded in fiscal 2006, is released in a future period, income tax expense will be reduced accordingly.

The calculation of tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex global tax regulations. 

We recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S. and other tax jurisdictions based on the Company’s  

estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. If payment of these amounts ultimately proves 

to be unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when the liabilities

are no longer determined to be necessary. If the estimate of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, 

a further charge to expense would result.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  Comprehensive (loss) income for the Company includes net (loss) income,

foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities, which are charged or credited 

to accumulated other comprehensive income within shareholders' equity. For fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, the components 

of accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Foreign currency translation adjustments $   (63) $ (199) $ (223)

Unrealized loss on short-term investments (284) (113) (33)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (347) $ (312) $ (256)

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISKS  Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit

risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, short-term investments and trade accounts receivable, which are generally not

collateralized. The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash equivalents and short-term investment with

high quality financial institutions and investing in high quality short-term debt instruments. The Company performs ongoing

credit evaluations of its customers, generally requires no collateral and maintains allowances for potential credit losses and

sales returns.

The Company’s  largest single customer accounted for approximately 49.7%, 54.3% and 58.8% of sales in fiscal 2006, 2005 

and 2004, respectively, and approximately 36.8%, 48.9% and 44.2% of accounts receivable as of the end of fiscal 2006, 2005

and 2004, respectively. No other customer accounted for 10% or more of sales in any of the three years presented.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-

term investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable. Investments in debt securities are recorded at fair value based 

on quoted market prices for these securities. The carrying amounts of other instruments approximate fair value because 

of their short-term maturities.

NET (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE  Basic net (loss) income per share is computed based on the weighted-average number of

shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net (loss) income per share is computed based on the weighted-

average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period increased by the weighted-average number of dilutive

common stock equivalents outstanding during the period, using the treasury stock method. Dilutive securities are comprised of

options granted and restricted stock awards issued under the Company’s  stock option plans and ESPP share purchase rights.

A reconciliation of the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands, except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004

Net (loss) income $ (19,486) $   4,578 $ 10,625

Basic:

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 13,716 13,899 13,384

Basic net (loss) income per share $     (1.42) $     0.33 $     0.79

Diluted:

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 13,716 13,899 13,384

Common stock equivalents using the treasury stock method — 530 1,020

Shares used in computing diluted net income per share 13,716 14,429 14,404

Diluted net (loss) income per share $     (1.42) $     0.32 $     0.74

Anti-dilutive common stock equivalents excluded from the computation of diluted net (loss) income per share were as follows:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Options outstanding 2,632 1,287 512

Restricted stock awards outstanding 144 — —

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION  The Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised

2004) (123(R)), Share-Based Payment, on July 4, 2005. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), deferred compensation previously

recognized in the balance sheet for fiscal 2005 was reversed with the offsetting decrease in common stock. Compensation costs

associated with the deferred compensation will be recorded to expense over the requisite service period associated with the

restricted stock.

The Company’s share-based compensation plans are described in Note 9. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on July 4,

2005, the Company accounted for share-based awards issued to employees, directors and officers under those plans under the

recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,

and related interpretations. Generally, no share-based employee compensation expense was recognized for stock option grants,

as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying common stock at

the date of grant. Similarly, no compensation expense had been recognized for purchase rights under the Company’s Employee

Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). Compensation expense related to issuances of service based restricted stock awards was generally

recognized based on the fair value less amounts paid by employees, if any. Compensation expense related to market based

restricted stock awards was recognized when satisfaction of the market condition was deemed probable by management. 

The Company accounts for stock option grants and similar equity instruments granted to non-employees under the fair value

method, in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That are

Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services and SFAS No. 123(R).
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As noted above, in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), which requires companies to measure

the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based on the grant-date fair value of

the award, using the modified prospective method. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the

fair value of its options on the measurement date. The cost is recognized over the requisite service period (usually the vesting

period) for the estimated number of instruments where service is expected to be rendered. The Company has elected the

alternative transition method described in FASB Staff Position SFAS No. 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting

for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards, for purposes of calculating the pool of excess tax benefits available to

absorb tax short falls recognized subsequent to adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). Refer to Note 9 for additional information.

The fair value of service based restricted stock awards is equal to the fair value of the stock on the date of issuance. The fair

value of market based restricted stock awards is determined through use of a lattice model. Compensation expense related 

to issuances of service based restricted stock awards is recorded at fair value less amounts paid by employees, if any, and

application of an estimated forfeiture rate. Compensation expense related to issuances of market based restricted stock awards

is recorded at estimated fair value for the number of employees expected to complete the requisite service period.

Compensation expense associated with option and restricted stock awards with graded vesting is recognized in accordance with

FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans –

an interpretation of APB Opinions No. 15 and 25.

In accordance with APB No. 25, the Company previously measured compensation expense for its share-based employee

compensation plans using the intrinsic value method and provided pro forma disclosures of net income and income per share 

as if the fair value-based method had been applied in measuring compensation expense. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 

No. 123(R), during fiscal 2006, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense of approximately $2.0 million, 

in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. During fiscal 2005 and 2004, had compensation expense for the

Company’s  employee share-based compensation awards, including the Company’s ESPP, been determined based on the fair

value at the grant date, the Company’s  net income and income per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts

indicated below:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004

Net income, as reported $  4,578 $ 10,625

Deduct: Share-based employee compensation expense 

determined under fair value based method for all awards,

net of related tax effects (8,293) (4,941)

Pro forma net (loss) income $ (3,715) $  5,684

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic – as reported $   0.33 $    0.79

Basic – pro forma $   (0.27) $    0.42

Diluted – as reported $   0. 32 $    0.74

Diluted – pro forma $   (0.27) $     0.39

On July 1, 2005, the Company’s  Board of Directors approved the accelerated vesting of all unvested stock options held by the

Company’s  officers and employees with an exercise price at or above $12.00 per share, effective July 3, 2005. The stock option

acceleration program did not apply to stock options held by the Company’s  non-employee directors. The accelerated options

were issued under the 2000 Stock Option Plan, the 2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan and the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan.

This accelerated vesting affected options to purchase up to an aggregate of 509,192 shares of the Company’s  common stock,

held by 147 employees, all of which became exercisable immediately. In connection with the acceleration of vesting of options

held by the Company’s executive officers, each executive officer agreed not to sell or transfer any shares subject to accelerated
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vesting until the original vesting date would have occurred based on the original vesting schedule (without giving effect to any

future termination of service). The primary purpose of the accelerated vesting was to eliminate future share-based employee

compensation expense of approximately $4.5 million, net of estimated forfeitures; the Company would otherwise have to record

in the statement of operations over a period of three years beginning in fiscal year 2006 pursuant to the Company’s  adoption of

SFAS No. 123(R). For fiscal 2005, the Company’s  pro forma net loss includes a pro forma charge of $4.1 million, net of statutory

taxes of $723,000, related to this acceleration.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxes (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial

statements in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. 

This Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute of tax positions taken or expected to be 

taken on a tax return. This Interpretation is effective for the first fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2006; our fiscal 

2008. Management is currently evaluating the impact FIN 48 will have on our financial position and results of operations.

NOTE 2. Acquisition of Certain Assets

On August 8, 2005, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Zetta Systems, Inc. (Zetta), a Washington corporation,

for total consideration of approximately $9.2 million in cash, including $154,000 in direct acquisition costs. Zetta developed 

data protection software that was incorporated into the Company’s  ULTAMUSTM product and is expected by management to

contribute to product sales in fiscal 2007. The acquisition was made principally to enable the Company’s  entry into the primary

data storage market.

The Company evaluated the business combination criteria within SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and after

consideration of these criteria and the criteria included with EITF No. 98-3, Determining Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction

Involves Receipt of Productive Assets or of a Business, determined that the purchase of Zetta represented a purchase of assets

rather than a business combination. Accordingly, the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed were

recorded at their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition and no goodwill was recorded. The Company used available

cash and cash equivalents to consummate this acquisition, which was accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 142,

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. A portion of the purchase price was allocated to existing technology and acquired in-

process research and development. The assets were identified and valued through analysis of data concerning developmental

projects, their stage of development, the time and resources needed to complete them, their expected income generating ability,

target markets and associated risks, among others.

The purchase consideration was allocated as follows:

(in thousands)

Current assets $      252

Non-current assets 757

Acquired technology 11,874

Acquired in-process research and development 1,121

Current liabilities (94)

Deferred tax liabilities and other non-current liabilities (4,756)

Total consideration $  9,154

The acquired technology has an estimated useful life of approximately four years and the cost allocated to it is being amortized

using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life. The results of operations of Zetta are included in our consolidated

results of operations beginning August 8, 2005.
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NOTE 3. Short-term Investments

The following table summarizes short-term investments by security type:

GROSS GROSS
AMORTIZED UNREALIZED UNREALIZED ESTIMATED

JUNE 30, 2006 (in thousands) COST GAINS LOSSES FAIR VALUE

Asset-backed securities $ 14,653 $ — $ 356 $ 14,297

Corporate bonds 2,600 — — 2,600

State and municipal securities 25,300 — — 25,300

$ 42,553 $ — $ 356 $ 42,197

GROSS GROSS
AMORTIZED UNREALIZED UNREALIZED ESTIMATED

JUNE 30, 2005 (in thousands) COST GAINS LOSSES FAIR VALUE

Asset-backed securities $ 18,208 $ — $ 155 $ 18,053

United States government and agency securities 2,000 — 22 1,978

State and municipal securities 51,365 1 8 51,358

$ 71,573 $  1 $ 185 $ 71,389

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company’s  short-term investments:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Less than one year $        — $  2,937

Due in one to two years 2,600 749

Due in two to five years 1,919 1,931

Due after five years 37,678 65,772

$ 42,197 $ 71,389

Asset-backed securities have been allocated within the contractual maturities table based upon the set maturity date of the

security. Realized gains and losses on short-term investments are included in other income (expense), net, in the accompanying

Consolidated Statement of Operations. In fiscal 2006, the Company recorded realized gains and realized losses of approximately

$1,000 and $24,000, respectively, on its short-term investments. In fiscal 2005, the Company recorded realized gains and

realized losses of approximately $2,000 and $0, respectively, on its short-term investments.

As of June 30, 2006, the Company had 32 individual securities in an unrealized loss position. The following table shows 

the gross unrealized losses and the fair value of the Company’s  investments with unrealized losses that are not deemed 

to be other-than-temporarily impaired (in thousands), aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual

securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at June 30, 2006.

LESS THAN 12 MONTHS 12 MONTHS OR GREATER TOTAL

FAIR UNREALIZED FAIR UNREALIZED FAIR UNREALIZED
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES VALUE LOSSES VALUE LOSSES VALUE LOSSES

Asset-backed securities $ 5,076 $ 147 $ 7,582 $ 209 $ 12,658 $ 356

Unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by a federal agency or government-

sponsored enterprise were caused by interest rate increases. The contractual cash flows of those investments are either guaranteed

by an agency of the U.S. government or entities with a line of credit to the U.S. Treasury. Accordingly, it is expected that the

securities would not be settled at a price less than the amortized cost of the Company’s  investment. Because the decline in

market value is attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality and because the Company has the ability and

the intent to hold those investments until a recovery of fair value, which may be maturity, the Company does not consider those

investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at June 30, 2006.
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NOTE 4. Composition of Certain Financial Statement Captions

The following table summarizes inventories:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Raw materials $  8,202 $   8,550

Work in process 1,332 1,997

Finished goods 5,444 8,561

$ 14,978 $ 19,108

The following table summarizes other current assets:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Prepaid third-party service contract $ 3,687 $   2,896

Income tax receivable 3,480 4,177

Prepaid insurance and services 1,087 1,213

Non-trade accounts receivable 490 3,071

Other 370 99

$ 9,114 $ 11,456

The following table summarizes property and equipment:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Computer equipment $ 11,594 $    9,414

Machinery and equipment 7,333 6,368

Leasehold improvements 3,925 3,814

Furniture and fixtures 1,398 1,309

24,250 20,905

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,224) (12,147)

$ 11,026 $  8,758

Depreciation and amortization expense, for property and equipment, was $2.4 million, $2.6 million and $2.4 million in fiscal

2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The following table summarizes accrued liabilities:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Deferred revenue – Service contracts $  5,773 $  3,484

Accrued expenses 5,106 3,838

Third-party service contracts payable 1,316 2,262

Deferred revenue – Distributors 2,005 1,186

Accrued market development funds 853 621

VAT & sales taxes payable 207 251

Other 70 818

$ 15,330 $ 12,460
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The following table summarizes other liabilities:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Deferred revenue – Service contracts $ 3,049 $ 1,978

Deferred rent 1,164 990

Other 280 106

$ 4,493 $ 3,074

As of fiscal 2006 and 2005, the accounts receivable balances consist entirely of accounts receivable trade balances, net of

allowance for doubtful accounts. The following table summarizes the changes in allowance for doubtful accounts:

BALANCE AT ADDITIONS WRITE-OFFS, DEDUCTIONS BALANCE
BEGINNING OF CHARGED TO NET OF CREDITED TO AT END

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) YEAR INCOME RECOVERIES INCOME OF YEAR

2006 $ 298 $ 159 $  21 $  — $ 436

2005 296 97 95 — 298

2004 413 114 126 105 296

NOTE 5. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Acquired technology $ 20,594 $ 8,720

Accumulated amortization (7,979) (3,527)

$ 12,615 $ 5,193

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $4.5 million, $1.7 million and $1.8 million during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,

respectively. The technology acquired from Okapi Software, Inc. and Zetta is being amortized over five years and four years,

respectively. Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets will be approximately $4.7 million, $4.7 million, $3.0 million

and $247,000 in fiscal 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively.

NOTE 6. Credit Facility

The Company has a credit facility consisting of a $10.0 million revolving line of credit for working capital purposes that expires

on November 30, 2006. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets. Interest on the line of

credit is set at the bank’s prime rate (8.25% on June 30, 2006) in effect from time to time minus 0.25% or, at the Company’s

option, a rate equal to LIBOR plus 2.25%. The loan agreement that governs the credit facility contains certain financial and

non-financial covenants. As of June 30, 2006 and 2005, no amounts were outstanding under the credit facility.
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NOTE 7. Income Taxes

The components of (loss) income before income taxes were as follows:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Domestic $ (24,417) $ 3,493 $ 15,003

Foreign 1,106 1,575 1,196

$ (23,311) $ 5,068 $ 16,199

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes includes the following:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Current:

Federal $ (2,718) $  131 $  5,293

State (143) 115 1,171

Foreign 224 713 377

Total current (2,637) 959 6,841

Deferred:

Federal (961) (366) (1,054)

State (227) (59) (213)

Foreign — (44) —

Total deferred (1,188) (469) (1,267)

Total (benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (3,825) $  490 $  5,574

A reconciliation of income taxes computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate of 34.0% to income before income

taxes to the total income tax (benefit) provision reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations is as follows:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

U.S. Federal income tax at statutory rate $ (7,926) $ 1,723 $ 5,493

State income taxes, net of federal benefit (1,231) 37 633

Increase in valuation allowance 5,114 — —

In-process research and development 381 — —

Share-based compensation expense 120 — —

Extraterritorial income exclusion benefit (238) (503) (374)

Tax exempt interest (65) (363) (68)

Favorable IRS settlement and statute expirations (51) (345) —

Federal R&D tax credit (111) (136) —

Permanent differences 92 43 53

Other, net 90 34 (163)

Total (benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (3,825) $    490 $ 5,574
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Deferred income taxes comprised:

JUNE 30, (in thousands) 2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:

Inventory $   2,009 $  1,152

Net operating loss carryforward 2,935 —

Warranty reserves 2,244 1,951

Tax credits 1,330 573

Share-based compensation and options 618 —

Vacation and deferred compensation 601 608

State income taxes — 8

Restructuring accrual — 243

Allowance for doubtful accounts 162 114

Other 280 144

Gross deferred tax asset 10,179 4,793

Deferred tax liabilities:

Purchased intangible assets (4,702) (1,975)

Property and equipment depreciation (363) (531)

Gross deferred tax liability (5,065) (2,506)

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (5,114) —

Net deferred tax asset $         — $  2,287

As of June 30, 2006, the Company performed an assessment of its net deferred tax assets. In prior years, the Company had

relied principally on its ability to generate future taxable income in its assessment of the realizability of its net deferred tax

assets. However, SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, considers recent losses to be significant negative evidence that 

is difficult to overcome by forecasts of future taxable income to support the realization of deferred tax assets. Accordingly, 

the Company recorded a non-cash charge in fiscal 2006 of $5.1 million to establish a full-valuation allowance against its net

deferred tax assets as realization of such assets is uncertain. This non-cash charge significantly reduced the deferred tax

benefit associated with an increase in the Company’s  net deferred tax assets. The Company recognized a current tax benefit 

in fiscal 2006 related principally to its ability to carry back a portion of the current year net operating losses.

At June 30, 2006, the Company has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards net of amounts eligible for carryback 

of approximately $8.9 million and $11.0 million, respectively. These amounts include stock option deductions of approximately

$950,000 which will be recorded to contributed capital when realized. The remaining federal net operating loss will begin

expiring in 2023, unless previously utilized. State net operating loss carryfowards generally begin to expire in 2016, unless

previously utilized.

At June 30, 2006, the Company had federal and California research and development tax credit carryforwards totaling

approximately $297,000 and $824,000, respectively. The California research credit may be carried forward indefinitely. 

In addition, the Company has foreign tax credit carryforwards totaling approximately $308,000, which will begin expiring 

in 2015, unless previously utilized. Also, the Company has federal alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards totaling

$197,000 that can be carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTE 8. Common Stock

On October 16, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors expanded the Company’s share repurchase program to allow for the

purchase of up to 2.5 million shares of its common stock with no fixed dollar amount. This repurchase authority allows the

Company to repurchase its common stock selectively from time to time in the open market, through block trades or otherwise,

or in privately negotiated transactions. Depending on market conditions and other factors, at any time or from time to time,

without prior notice, the Company’s Board of Directors may modify the program or commence or suspend purchases. There 

is no fixed termination date for the repurchase program. During fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, an aggregate of approximately 

1.3 million and 32,500 shares, respectively, were repurchased at a cost of approximately $10.8 million and $309,000,

respectively, pursuant to the repurchase program.

NOTE 9. Share-based Compensation

STOCK OPTION PLANS The Company has six active stock option plans, each administered by a Committee of the Board of

Directors, which provide for the issuance of options to employees, officers, directors and consultants. As of June 30, 2006, 

the Company had reserved an aggregate of 7.3 million shares of common stock for issuance under the 1993 Stock Option Plan,

1995 Stock Option Plan, 1997 Executive Stock Option Plan, 2000 Stock Option Plan, 2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan

(2001 Plan) and the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (2003 Plan) (collectively, the Option Plans). The Option Plans provide for 

the granting of stock options. In addition, the 2003 Plan provides for the granting of restricted stock and stock appreciation

rights (collectively, stock awards). The Option Plans have been approved by shareholders with the exception of the 2001 

Plan. Currently, the Company may grant new awards only from the 2003 Plan. The Company’s 2003 Plan provides for the

automatic grant of non-statutory options to purchase shares of common stock to non-employee directors.

Certain options issued under selected plans allow for 100% vesting of outstanding options upon a change of control of the

Company (if replacement options are not issued) or upon death or disability of the optionee. Options granted generally vest 

over a three-year period. Options generally expire after a period not to exceed ten years, except in the event of termination,

whereupon vested shares must be exercised generally within three months under the 2003 Plan and within 30 days under 

the other Option Plans, or upon death or disability, where an extended six- or twelve-month exercise period is specified. 

As of June 30, 2006, approximately 2.6 million shares were reserved for issuance upon exercise of outstanding options 

and approximately 517,000 shares were available for grant under the Option Plans.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model

which uses the weighted-average assumptions noted in the following table. Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005,

separate groups of employees that have similar historical exercise behavior are being considered separately in determining

certain valuation assumptions. Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility (using daily pricing) of the Company’s

stock. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company now applies a forfeiture rate, based upon historical pre-vesting option

cancellations. The expected term of options granted is estimated based on a number of factors, including but not limited to the

vesting term of the award, historical employee exercise behavior (for both options that have run their course and outstanding

options), the expected volatility of the Company’s  stock and an employee’s  average length of service. The risk-free interest rate

is determined based upon a U.S. constant rate Treasury Security with a contractual life which approximates the expected term

of the option award. Weighted-average ranges below result from certain groups of employees exhibiting different behavior:
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FISCAL YEAR 2006 2005 2004

Expected volatility 72.2 - 74.1% 76.9 - 77.3% 79.0%

Risk-free interest rate 4.3 - 4.4% 3.6 - 3.7% 4.2%

Dividend yield — — —

Expected term (in years) 5.6 - 5.9 5.0 - 6.0 7.0

The stock option activity is summarized below:
WEIGHTED-

WEIGHTED- AVERAGE
AVERAGE REMAINING AGGREGATE
EXERCISE CONTRACTUAL INTRINSIC

(shares and aggregate intrinsic value in thousands) SHARES PRICE TERM (YEARS) VALUE

Options outstanding at June 30, 2005 3,113 $ 11.54

Granted 224 8.17

Exercised (294) 6.52

Canceled/forfeited (411) 15.47

Options outstanding at June 30, 2006 2,632 11.20 6.24 $ 165

Exercisable outstanding at June 30, 2006 2,380 11.44 5.94 $ 165

During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded share-based compensation associated with outstanding stock option

grants of approximately $1.4 million, $0 and $0, respectively. As of June 30, 2006, there was $620,000 of total unrecognized

compensation expense related to non-vested stock options granted under the Option Plans. This expense is expected to be

recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.43 years. The following table summarizes information about stock options 

for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands, except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004

Weighted-averaged grant date fair value per share of options 

granted with exercise prices:

Less than fair value $      — $       — $     —

Equal to fair value 5.49 8.92 13.76

Greater than fair value — 8.18 —

Intrinsic value of options exercised 502 1,915 7,668

Cash received upon exercise of stock options 1,918 2,269 5,592

Actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions 

from option exercise — 715 3,438

Total income tax benefit recognized 

in the statement ofoperations — — —

In November 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors extended the term of 97,000 fully vested options held by a former director.

As a result of that modification, the Company recognized additional compensation expense of approximately $47,000 during the

second quarter of fiscal 2006.
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RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS In April 2005, the Company issued two restricted stock awards for 50,000 shares each to 

its CEO. At June 30, 2006, 16,667 shares were vested and 83,333 shares were subject to repurchase. The awards are 

described separately below.

The first award (the Service Award) vests as follows: 16,667 shares, 16,667 shares and 16,666 shares on January 1, 2006, 

2007 and 2008, respectively. In accordance with APB No. 25, the Service Award was a fixed award and, as such, compensation

expense was recorded for the fair value of the Company’s common stock less any amounts paid by the employee. The fair 

value of the Service Award is $10.86 per share (the market value of the stock on the date of issuance) or $543,000, which 

was recorded as deferred compensation under APB No. 25. Compensation expense recorded during fiscal 2006 (under 

SFAS No. 123(R)) and fiscal 2005 (under APB No. 25) totaled approximately $300,000 and $80,000, respectively. See 

Note 1, Change in Accounting Principle and Accounting for Share-Based Compensation, above, and Effect of SFAS 

No. 123(R) Adoption, below, for further discussion.

The second award (the Market Award) vests as follows: 12,500 shares, 12,500 shares and 25,000 shares, if the volume weighted daily

average stock price of the Company for ten consecutive trading days reaches $20.00, $25.00 and $30.00 (collectively, the target 

stock price), respectively, on or before January 1, 2008. Based upon the market values of the Company’s common stock through

June 30, 2005, satisfaction of the vesting conditions were not deemed probable by management and therefore no compensation

expense was recorded under APB No. 25. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company began recognizing compensation

expense associated with this award. The compensation expense will be recognized through the remaining service period. The

weighted-average grant date fair value of this restricted stock award was estimated at $5.73, using a trinomial option pricing

model based on the following assumptions: expected volatility of 54.2%, risk-free interest rate of 3.8%, dividend yield of 0.0% 

and an expected term of 978 days. Commencing with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), this expense is being recognized in the

statement of operations with offsetting credits to common stock. Compensation expense recorded during fiscal 2006 totaled

approximately $77,000.

On August 8, 2005, the Company issued an aggregate of 64,625 restricted shares of common stock to new hires, 15,000 shares 

of which vest annually over a period of three years in equal increments and 49,625 shares of which vest annually over a period

of five years in equal increments, in each case subject to continuing service by the recipient of the restricted stock. The fair

value of the restricted stock is $7.84 per share (the market value of the stock on the date of issuance) or $506,660 and will be

recorded to compensation expense, net of related forfeitures, over the requisite service periods of the awards. Compensation

expense recorded during fiscal 2006 was approximately $183,000. At June 30, 2006, no shares were vested and 60,875 shares

were subject to repurchase.

The following table summarizes information about non-vested restricted stock awards as of June 30, 2006 and changes during

fiscal 2006:
WEIGHTED-

WEIGHTED- AVERAGE AGGREGATE
AVERAGE REMAINING UNRECOGNIZED

GRANT-DATE SERVICE COMPENSATION
(shares and aggregate unrecognized compensation expense in thousands) SHARES FAIR VALUE PERIOD EXPENSE

Non-vested at June 30, 2005  100 $  8.29

Granted 65 7.84

Vested (17) 10.86

Canceled (4) 7.84

Non-vested at June 30, 2006 144 7.81 2.39 $ 413

The following table summarizes information about restricted stock awards vested during the fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

FISCAL YEAR (in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Fair value of vested restricted stock awards $ 134 $ — $ —
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1996 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN In February 1997, the Company adopted the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase 

Plan (ESPP), which is due to expire January 31, 2007. A total of 600,000 shares of common stock have been reserved under 

the ESPP, as amended, for issuance and purchase by employees of the Company to assist them in acquiring a stock ownership

interest in the Company and to encourage them to remain employees of the Company. The ESPP is qualified under Section 423

of the Internal Revenue Code and permits eligible employees to purchase common stock at a discount through payroll deductions

during specified six-month offering periods. No employee may purchase more than $25,000 worth of stock in any calendar year

or 1,500 shares in any one offering period.

In August 2005, the Board of Directors amended the ESPP so that, effective with the offering period beginning in August 2005,

the purchase price of common stock under the ESPP shall be determined as either (i) a percentage not less than 85.0% (the

Designated Percentage), subject to the Compensation Committee’s  discretion of the fair market value of the common stock on

the last day of the offering period or (ii) the lower of (a) the Designated Percentage of the fair market value of the common stock

on the first day of the offering period or (b) the Designated Percentage of the fair market value of the common stock on the last

day of the offering period. On August 10, 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Director’s determined the purchase

price to be 95.0% of the fair market value of the common stock on the last day of each offering period, beginning with the August

2005 offering. As a result, commencing with the August 2005 offering period, the ESPP will no longer be compensatory under

SFAS No. 123(R). Expense prior to this date was not significant.

The fair value of each compensatory share purchase right is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton

option pricing model. The following assumptions were used in estimating the fair value of the purchase rights during fiscal

2005 and 2004:

FISCAL YEAR 2005 2004

Expected volatility 38.4% 57.0%

Risk-free interest rate 1.9% 3.7%

Dividend yield — —

Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5

The weighted-average estimated fair value of each compensatory share purchase right issued during fiscal 2005 and 2004 was

$3.24 and $4.71 per share, respectively.

During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, approximately 54,000, 74,000 and 52,000 shares, respectively, were issued under the ESPP

for combined proceeds of approximately $338,000, $673,000 and $658,000, respectively. As of June 30, 2006, approximately

28,000 shares were available under the ESPP.

EFFECT OF SFAS NO.123 (R) ADOPTION The effect of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 

June 30, 2005 is as follows:

WITHOUT SFAS 
SFAS NO. 123(R) NO. 123(R) WITH SFAS

(in thousands) (AS REPORTED) IMPACT NO. 123(R)

Common stock $ 77,494 $ (463) $ 77,031

Deferred compensation (463) 463 —

NOTE 10. 401(K) Plan

In January 1994, the Company adopted an employee savings and retirement plan (the 401[k] Plan) covering all of the

Company’s  employees. The 401(k) Plan permits but does not require matching contributions by the Company on behalf 

of participants. The Company matches employee contributions at 75%, up to 6% of an employee’s  pretax income. The 

totals of these employer contributions were $777,000, $819,000 and $660,000 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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NOTE 11. Accrued Restructuring Charges

OUTSOURCE OF MANUFACTURING OPERATIONS In September 2004, in order to enhance its strategic competitiveness and

increase its flexibility, the Company announced a plan to outsource all of its manufacturing to a U.S. third party manufacturer. 

In November 2004, the contract with the outsource manufacturer was finalized and all manufacturing employees were notified

of termination dates and benefits. Under the restructuring plan, the Company terminated 82 employees.

The Company completed the transfer of all of its manufacturing operations in August 2005. In fiscal 2005, the Company

recorded $2.1 million to cost of revenue in pre-tax charges for severance costs related to the outsourcing and other obligations. 

In fiscal 2006, the Company recorded $770,000 in pre-tax charges to cost of revenue for other obligations related to the

outsourcing, including a charge of $704,000 for the estimated fair value of the liability associated with leased warehouse 

space that the Company permanently ceased using in December 2005. In June 2006, the Company decided to terminate 

the relationship Sanmina and return manufacturing to San Diego. As a result, the Company recorded a pre-tax credit 

of $536,000, in the fourth quarter, to reverse the remaining excess facilities liability previously recorded.

The following table summarizes the activity and balances of the accrued restructuring charges through fiscal 2006:

EMPLOYEE
(in thousands) RELATED FACILITIES OTHER TOTAL

Accrued restructuring charges $  1,532 $    — $ 523 $  2,055

Cash payments (1,009) — (523) (1,532)

Balance at June 30, 2005 523 — — 523

Accrued restructuring charges — 704 66 770

Adjustment (37) (536) — (573)

Cash payments (486) (168) (66) (720)

Balance at June 30, 2006 $        — $    — $   — $       —

NOTE 12. Commitments and Contingencies

LEASES  The Company leases its office, production and sales facilities under non-cancelable operating leases, which expire 

in various years through fiscal year 2018. The leases provide for biennial or annual rent escalations intended to approximate

increases in cost of living indices, and certain of the leases provide for rent abatement. The Company has a one five-year

option to renew its lease on its San Diego headquarters facility. Future minimum lease payments under these arrangements 

are as follows:

(in thousands) MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS

Fiscal 2007 $   3,300

Fiscal 2008 3,270

Fiscal 2009 3,344

Fiscal 2010 3,394

Fiscal 2011 3,496

Thereafter 10,826

$ 27,630

Rental expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the respective lease terms and approximated $4.0 million, 

$3.8 million and $3.8 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

LITIGATION  The Company is from time to time involved in various lawsuits, claims and legal proceedings that arise in the

ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the amount of any ultimate liability with respect to these ordinary

course actions will not materially affect the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
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NOTE 13. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table presents selected quarterly financial information for the periods indicated. This information has 

been derived from the Company’s   unaudited quarterly consolidated condensed financial statements, which in the opinion 

of management include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair statement 

of such information. The quarterly per share amounts presented below were calculated separately and may not sum to 

the annual figures presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. These operating results are also not necessarily

indicative of results for any future period.

FISCAL 2006 (in thousands, except per share amounts) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TOTAL

Net revenue $ 58,502 $ 60,638 $ 48,153 $ 41,745 $ 209,038

Gross profit 13,419 13,387 10,336 9,304 46,446

Loss from operations (5,498) (4,554) (6,810) (9,069) (25,931)

Loss before income taxes (4,984) (3,807) (6,150) (8,370) (23,311)

Net loss (2,900) (2,713) (7,038) (6,835) (19,486)

Net loss per share:

Basic $   (0.21) $   (0.19) $   (0.52) $   (0.52) $     (1.42)

Diluted (0.21) (0.19) (0.52) (0.52) (1.42)

FISCAL 2005 (in thousands, except per share amounts) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TOTAL

Net revenue $ 59,526 $ 62,525 $ 58,282 $ 55,354 $ 235,687

Gross profit 16,017 17,818 14,886 12,196 60,917

Income (loss) from operations 2,664 3,544 952 (3,636) 3,524

Income (loss) before income taxes 3,007 3,921 1,389 (3,249) 5,068

Net income (loss) 1,900 2,603 1,357 (1,282) 4,578

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $     0.14 $     0.19 $     0.10 $   (0.09) $        0.33

Diluted 0.13 0.18 0.09 (0.09) 0.32
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting will be 
held at 9:00 a.m. on Tuesday,
November 14th at 
Overland Storage, Inc. 
4820 Overland Avenue
San Diego, California 92123 USA

STOCK INFORMATION

Overland’s Common Stock 
trades on NASDAQ Global Select 
Symbol: OVRL

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Wells Fargo Shareowner Services
161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, Minnesota 55075
800-468-9716 TEL

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Suite 2900
750 B Street 
San Diego, California 92101

CORPORATE COUNSEL

Sheppard Mullin 
Richter & Hampton LLP
Suite 300
12544 High Bluff Drive
San Diego, California 92130

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY COUNSEL

Knobbe Martens 
Olson & Bear LLP
Suite 1200
550 West C Street
San Diego, California 92101

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Overland’s filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission are 
available, free of charge, upon 
request to the Investor Relations
Department or through Overland’s
website. They are also available
through the SEC’s EDGAR site on 
the internet at http://www.sec.gov 
or through links to the Company’s
home page. 

For additional information:
Cynthia A. Bond 
Director of
Corporate Communications 
858-571-5555 ext. 4269 TEL
cbond@overlandstorage.com

The following trademarks are owned by Overland Storage, Inc.: ARCvault, ARCvault SERIES, EnterpriseXpress, GUTS Guaranteed Up Time, LibraryPro, LibraryXpress, Liveswap, LoaderXpress,

MiniLibraryXpress, Multi-SitePAC, NEO, NEO SERIES, Overland, Overland logo, Overland Storage, PowerLoader, Protection OS, REO SERIES, REO Softkey, REO, REO 1000, REO 4000, REO 9000,

SANPiper, ServiceXpress, SmartScale Storage, SnapWrite, Simply Protected, Simply Protected Storage, ULTAMUS, ULTAMUS PRO, ULTAMUS SERIES, VR2, Web TLC, XchangeNOW, XpressChannel. 

All other brand names or trademarks appearing in this publication are the property of their respective owners.

Important Notice: Overland’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2006 is enclosed herewith and contains additional information about the Company’s business, including

its financial statements and constitutes an integral part of this 2006 Annual Report to Shareholders. This Annual Report contains certain statements of a forward-looking nature relating to future

events or the future performance of the Company. Prospective investors are cautioned that such statements are only predictions and that actual events or results may differ materially. In

evaluating such statements, prospective investors should specifically consider various factors identified in the Form 10-K, including the matters set forth therein under the caption “Risk Factors,”

which could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements.

WORLDWIDE LOCATIONS

Overland Storage, Inc.
4820 Overland Avenue
San Diego, California 92123 USA
800-729-8725 TOLL FREE

858-571-5555 TEL
858-571-0982 FAX
sales@overlandstorage.com
www.overlandstorage.com

Overland Storage (Europe) Ltd.
EMEA Office
Overland House, Ashville Way
Wokingham, Berkshire
RG41 2PL, England
+44 (0)118-9898000 TEL
+44 (0)118-9891897 FAX
europe@overlandstorage.com

Overland Storage SARL
Southern Europe Office
13 Rue Camille Desmoulins
92441 Issy les Moulineaux Cedex, France
+33 (0)1 58 04 25 50 TEL
+33 (0)1 58 04 26 36 FAX
europe@overlandstorage.com

Overland Storage GmbH
Central Europe Office
Humboldtstrasse 12
85609 Dornach, Germany
+49 89-94490-214 TEL
+49 89-94490-414 FAX
europe@overlandstorage.com

Overland Storage, Inc.
Singapore Rep Office
Level 44, Suntec Tower 3
8 Temasek Boulevard
Singapore, 038988
+65 6866-3848 TEL
+65 6866-3838 FAX
asia@overlandstorage.com

Overland Storage, Inc.
Korea Rep Office
15th Floor, Agabang Building
678-38 Yeoksam-dong
Gangnan-gu, Seoul Korea 135-718
+82.2.527.0011.2 TEL
+82.2.527.0013 FAX
asia@overlandstorage.com
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OVERLAND STORAGE, INC.
4820 Overland Avenue

San Diego, California 92123 USA

858-571-5555 TEL
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